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CORPORATE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

Petitioner and Cross-Respondent Siren Retail Corporation d/b/a Star-

bucks Reserve Roastery is a wholly owned subsidiary of Starbucks

Corporation, a publicly held corporation. Starbucks Corporation has no

parent corporation, no publicly held corporation owns more than 10% of

Starbucks' stock, and no publicly held company has a 10% or greater

ownership interest in Starbucks.

i



...................................................................................................
...................................................................

........................................................................
............................................................................

...............................................................................
.................................................................................

............................................................
............................................................................

.................................................................................
.........................................................................................................

....................

...............................................................................

......................................................................................

.....................................................................................................

............
.......................

.......
......................................................................................................

..................................................................................

Case: 24-3168, 04/15/2025, DktEntry: 58.1, Page 3 of 99

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

1
4
4
5
5

10
19
23
28
29

29
11.

40

42
B.

47
C.

52
52

...5'7
III.

INTRODUCTION
STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION
STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES
STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Legal Background
B. Factual History
C. Administrative Proceedings

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
STANDARD OF REVIEW
ARGUMENT
I. The Board Ignored This Court's Controlling Precedent When It

Held That Starbucks' One-Pin Policy Violates the NLRA
The Board Erred in Applying the Standard It Adopted in the
Vacated Tesla Decision
A. Republic Aviation and the NLRA's Text Do Not Support a

Presumption That Facially Neutral Uniform Requirements
Are Unlawful
Tesla's "Narrow Tailoring" Standard Is Contrary to
Precedent and Undermines the Purpose of a Balancing
Test
The Board's Application of Tesla Overstepped Its
Statutory Authority and Violated the First Amendment
l. The Board eaeceecled its statutory authority
2. The 8oarcl's order violates the First Arrlericlrrlent.

Starbucks Established Special Circumstances for Its Dress-Code
Policy That Outweigh Any Adverse Effect on Employees' Rights

CONCLUSION
SPECIAL APPENDIX

.63
69

SPA1

ii



................................................

............................................................................................

...............................................
...............................

...............................................

............................

.........................................................

............................................................................
..............................................

...............................
.........................................................................

.........................................................

...............................................................................
................................

......................................................................................

.............................................
..................................

...........................................................................

.................................................
..................................................

Case: 24-3168, 04/15/2025, DktEntry: 58.1, Page 4 of 99

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES
Page

CASES

58

60
• 52

46
51

7, 9
........4

........50
48, 65
....64

53

5'7
46, 53

30
52

29,36,37,40
10,25,89

58, 60, 61
29, 37, 38

303 Creative LLC 'U. Elenis, 600 U.S. 570 (2023)
Ageneyfor Int'l Dev. v. All. for Open Soc'y Int'l, Inc.,

570 U.S. 205 (2013)
Allentown Mack Sales & Serv., Inc. 'U. NLRB, 522 U.S. 359 (1998)......
Beth Israel Hosp. v. NLR8, 437 U.S. 483 (1978)
Boca Iinports, Inc. v. NLR8, 826 F.3d 558 (1st Cir. 2016)
8oeing Co., 365 NLRB No. 154 (Dec. 14, 2017)
Citizens Pnbl'g & Printing Co. v. NLR8, 263 F.3d 224 (3d Cir. 2001).....
DHL Empress, Inc. v. NLR8, 813 F.3d 365 (D.C. Cir. 2016)....................
District Lodge 91 v. NLR8, 814 F.2d 876 (2d Cir. 1987)
E. Omni Constructors, Inc. v. NLRB, 170 F.3d 418 (4th Cir. 1999) ..
Easter, Inc. 'U. NLR8, 437 U.S. 556 (1978)
Edward J. De8artolo Corp. 'U. Fla. GnlfCoast 8ldg. & Constr. Trades

Council, 485 U.S. 568 (1988)
Epic Sys. Corp. v. Lewis, 584 U.S. 497 (2018)
FCC v. For Television Stations, Inc., 567 U.S. 239 (2012)
FEC v. C'f"ZlZ, 596 U.S. 289 (2022)
Heartland Plyrnonth Ct. MI, LLC 7). NLRB,

838 F.3d 16 (D.C. Cir. 2016)
Home Depot USA, Inc., 373 NLRB No. 25 (Feb. 21, 2024)..............
Hurley 1). Irish-Arn. Gay, Lesbian & Biseaenal Grp. of8os.,

515 U.S. 557 (1995)
Ithaca Colt. 7). NLR8, 623 F.2d 224 (2d Cir. 1980)
Janis 7). Am. Fed'n of State, Cnty., & Man. Emfs., Council 31 ,

585 U.S. 878 (2018)
Johnson 7). U.S. RR. Ret. 801., 969 F.2d 1082 (D.C. Cir. 1992)
Kwong 'U. Eloornberg, 723 F.3d 160 (2d Cir. 2013)
Loper Eright Enters. 'U. Raimondo, 603 U.S. 369 (2024)
red co Health Sols. olLas Vegas, Inc. 1). NLR8,

701 F.3d 710 (D.C. Cir. 2012) 51
Midstate Tel. Corp. 1). NLR8, 706 F.2d 401 (2d Cir. 1983)......................passirn
MicheLin Enters., Inc. 'U. NLR8, 861 F.3d 812 (8th Cir. 2017) (en bane) 42
Moody 'U. NetChoice, LLC, 603 U.S. 707 (2024) 56
Motorola Inc., 305 NLRB 580 (Nov. 12, 1991) 54

59, 60
nnnnnnnmm37

50
28

iii



................................................................................

.................................
........................................
..................................
......................................

...............................

..............................................................................
.............................

...............................

................................
................................................

.................................
...................

..........................

...........................

..........................................................
...........................................
..............................................

.................................
.........................................

....................................

..............................................................................................

Case: 24-3168, 04/15/2025, DktEntry: 58.1, Page 5 of 99

Page

52
..42

• ....38
39
43

47, 51
66

. 29,50
28

29
pas8im

.......46, 47
38
55

..2'7, 62
66
52
39
10

pa88fim
.......58, 59

...'7, 28, 63
29

9
19

9
37

pas8im
pas8im

Cases-continued:

Nat. Res. Def Council 'U. Nat'l Highway Traffic Safety Admin. ,
894 F.3d 95 (2d Cir. 2018)

New York New York, LLC 1). NLRB,313 F.3d 585 (D.C. Cir. 2002)..... . .
Nielsen Litkograpking Co. 1). NLR8, 854 F.2d 1063 (7th Cir. 1988) . .
NLR8 'U. A. Dnie Pyle, Inc., 730 F.2d 119 (3d Cir. 1984)
NLR8 'U. 8abcock & Wilcox Co., 351 U.S. 105 (1956)
NLR8 'U. Fleetwood Trailer Co., 389 U.S. 375 (1967)
NLR8 'U. Harrak's Club, 337 F.2d 177 (9th Cir. 1964)
NLR8 'U. Ky. River Carty. Care, Inc., 532 U.S. 706 (2001)................
NLR8 'U. Newark Elec. Corp.,14 F.4th 152 (2d Cir. 2021)
NLR8 'U. Special Tonck Horne Care Serf's., Inc.,

566 F.3d 292 (2d Cir. 2009)
NLR8 'U. Starbucks Corp., 679 F.3d 70 (2d Cir. 2012)
NLR8 'U. United Steelworkers of Arr., CIO, 357 U.S. 357 (1958)
NLR8 'U. Yeskiya University, 582 F.2d 686 (2d Cir. 1976)
Off & Pro. Ernyos. Int' l Union, 'U. NLR8, 981 F.2d 76 (2d Cir. 1992) ..
Pac. Gas & Elec. Co. 'U. Public Util. Cornrn'n ofCal., 475 U.S. 1 (1986) .
Pag'N Save Coryo. 'U. NLRB,641 F.2d 697 (9th Cir. 1981)
Pedersen 'U. NLRB,234 F.2d 417 (2d Cir. 1956)
PPG Indus., Inc. 'U. NLRB,671 F.2d 817 (4th Cir. 1982)
Refresco Beverages US, Inc., 373 NLRB No. 148 (Dec. 16, 2024)
Republic Aviation Corp. v. NLRB, 324 U.S. 793 (1945)
Riley v. Nat'l Fed'n oftke Blind ofN.C., Inc., 487 U.S. 781 (1988)....
S. New England Tel. Co. v. NLRB, 793 F.3d 93 (D.C. Cir. 2015).......
SDBC Holdings, Inc. v. NLRB, 711 F.3d 281 (2d Cir. 2013)
Starbucks Corp. & Workers United,

No. 04-CA-294636, 2023 WL 5140070
(N.L.R.B. Div. of Judges Aug. 10, 2023)

Starbucks Coryb. v. McKinney, 602 U.S. 339 (2024)
Stericgcle, Inc., 372 NLRB No. 113 (Aug. 2, 2023)
Sunbelt Rentals, Inc., 372 NLRB No. 24 (Dec. 15, 2022)
Tesla Inc., 371 NLRB No. 131 (Aug. 29, 2022)
Tesla Inc. v. NLRB, 86 F.4th 640 (5th Cir. 2023)
Teactile Workers Union of Air. v. Darlington Mfg. Co.,

380 U.s. 263 (1965) 6

iv



............................................
.............................................

.....................................................................
...................................................................

.....................
................................................

.............................................

...........................................................................

.....................................................................................
.........................................................................................................

....................................................................................................................

...........................................................................................................

......................................................................................................................
......................................................................................................
...........................................................................................................
...............................................................................................................
.................................................................................................................
..................................................................................................................

...........................................................................................

Case: 24-3168, 04/15/2025, DktEntry: 58.1, Page 6 of 99

Page

Cases-continued:

34
57

53, 56
6'7

pas8im
27, 61, 62

41

United States 'U. Calm, 521 F.2d 605 (2d Cir. 1975)
Util. Aiff' Regal. Gap. 1). EPA, 573 U.S. 302 (2014)
Venetian Casino Resoift, L.L. C. 'U. NLRB,

484 F.3d 601 (D.C. Cir. 2007)
WSan Diego, 348 NLRB 372 (2006)
Wal-Mant Stores, Inc., 368 NLRB No. 146 (Dec. 16, 2019)
Wooled 'U. Maynard, 430 U.S. 705 (1977)
WPIX, Inc. 'U. NLRB, 870 F.2d 858 (2d Cir. 1989)
Yellow Tami Co. ofMinnea;oolis in. NLR8,

721 F.2d 366 (D.C. Cir. 1983) 39

CONSTITUTION, STATUTES, AND REGULATIONS

U.S. Const. amend. I
5 U.S.C. § 706
National Labor Relations Act (NLRA), 29 U.S.C. § 151 et seq. .

§ 151
§ 15'7
§ 158
§ 158(a)
§ 160(b)
§ 160(c)
§ 160(e)
§ 160(f)

29 C.F.R. 101.10-12§§

pas8im
41

OO ......loassim
52

passim
5

pas8im
4, 19

19
4
4

19

OTHER AUTHORITY

Guideline Mem. Concerning Unfair Labor Practice Charges Involving
Political Advocacy, Mem. No. GC 08-10,
2008 WL 6708138 (N L R B G C July 22 2008) ........53,54

V



Case: 24-3168, 04/15/2025, DktEntry: 58.1, Page 7 of 99

INTRODUCTION

Countless employers around the country require their employees to

comply with a dress code that advances the image the employer wants to pre-

sent to the public. Yet the National Labor Relations Board (NLRB) held in

this case that employees have a presumptive right to ignore their employers'

dress code whenever they wish to displace an article of clothing required by

the dress code with union apparel of their choosing. Under the decision below,

dress codes are "presumptively unlawful," irrespective of whether the em-

player allows opportunities for employees to express union support, unless the

employer can demonstrate to the Board's satisfaction that its dress code is

"narrowly tailored" to "special circumstances.77

The Board applied that rule here to invalidate significant aspects of

Starbucks' dress code for public-facing employees at its Reserve Roastery in

New York City. The Roastery is an immersive destination, functioning as both

a working coffee roastery and a singular retail space designed to create "the

Willy Wonka" of coffee. Starbucks carefully designed the Roastery with the-

atrical copper roasting equipment, interactive coffee bars, and artisanal food

offerings, all within an expansive, industrial-chic setting that invites customers

to experience the complete journey of coffee from bean to cup. Starbucks'

1
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dress code for its public-facing employees is part and parcel of this unique,

immersive experience.

This Court should grant the petition for review and deny the Board's

cross-application for enforcement. In holding Starbucks liable for unfair labor

practices by maintaining and uniformly enforcing a reasonable dress code, the

Board not only flouted this Court's precedent, but also violated core principles

of administrative law, the First Amendment, and the text of the NLRA.

Fast, in holding that Starbucks committed an unfair labor practice by

limiting employees to wearing only one union button or pin, the Board all but

ignored this Court's decision inNLRB 7). Starbucks Cmtyo., 679 F.3d '70 (2d Cir.

2012). There, the Court held that the Board had "gone too far in invalidating"

a Starbucks dress code "provision limiting employees to displaying only one

pro-union button on their work uniforms." Id. at '71, '78, Below, the Board

again invalidated a one-pin policy, noting in a footnote that it does not follow

circuit precedent with which it disagrees. The Board's attempt to distinguish

this case from the earlier one is disingenuous and should be rejected.

Second, the Board erred when it held that Starbucks committed unfair

labor practices by prohibiting employees from wearing shirts with "logos,

writings, or designs," and pins with "political, religious, or personal"

2
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messaging. Those prohibitions apply across the board to all shirts and pins,

not just union-related ones, and Starbucks permits employees to express un-

ion support by wearing one union pin. In invalidating these policies, the Board

applied the test it announced inTeslaInc., 371 NLRB No. 131 (Aug. 29, 2022),

which the Fifth Circuit vacated in Tesla, Inc. 7). NLRB,86 F.4th 640, 644 (5th

Cir. 2023).

Tesla renders neutrally enforced dress-code policies "presumptively un-

lawful" unless an employer can establish "special circumstances" justifying the

policy and the policy is "narrowly tailored" to those special circumstances.

That test (rightly rejected and vacated by the Fifth Circuit) violates the NLRA

by placing a thumb (or perhaps two forearms) on the employees' side of the

scale, exceeds the NLRB's statutory authority (for example, by regulating pol-

icies about religious messages), and infringes Starbucks' First Amendment

rights.

Finally, even assuming Starbucks needed to establish "special circum-

stances" to justify its facially neutral and consistently enforced dress-code

policies, the Board erred in concluding that Starbucks had not done so. The

Board failed to consider all relevant factors required by this Court's prece-

dent, gave short shrift to Starbucks' legitimate interest in presenting a

3
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uniform image, and improperly weighed against Starbucks the fact that Star-

bucks permits employees to wear a union pin.

If the Board's decision is enforced, commonplace and longstanding

workplace dress codes and uniform policies may become a thing of the past, to

the detriment of employers, employees, and customers alike. This Court

should reject the Board's defiance of precedent, sweeping assertion of power

under the NLRA, and novel, unsupported extension of the "special circum-

stances" test, and should deny enforcement.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Board had jurisdiction over this unfair labor practice proceeding

under 29 U.S.C. § 160(b). This Court has jurisdiction over Starbucks' petition

for review and the Board's cross-application for enforcement because the al-

legged unfair labor practices occurred in this Circuit. See 29 U.S.C. §§ 160(e)-

(f). These petitions are timely because the NLRA imposes no deadlines for

rev iew. See, e.g., Citizens Publ'g & Pvdnting Co. 7). NLRB, 263 F.3d 224, 232

(3d Cir. 2001).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the Board erred when it held, contrary to this Court's deci-

sign in NLRB 7). Starbucks Corp., 679 F.3d '70 (2d Cir. 2012), that Starbucks

4
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committed an unfair labor practice by limiting its employees to wearing only

one union button or pin.

2. Whether the Board violated the NLRA, exceeded its statutory au-

thority, and infringed Starbucks' First Amendment rights, when it applied the

standard from its vacated decision in Tesla Inc., 371 NLRB No. 131 (Aug. 29,

2022), to hold that Starbucks committed an unfair labor practice by maintain-

ing dress-code rules prohibiting shirts or tops with "10g0s, writings, or

designs," and "political, religious, or personal" pins.

3. Whether the Board erred in concluding that Starbucks failed to prove

special circumstances justifying its prohibition on shirts with "logos, writings,

or designs," and pins with "political, religious, or personal" messaging.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Legal Background

Section '7 of the NLRA guarantees employees "the right to selflorgani-

zation, to form, join, or assist labor organizations, to bargain collectively

through representatives of their own choosing, and to engage in other con-

certed activities for the purpose of collective bargaining or other mutual aid or

protection." 29 U.S.C. § 157. Section 8 of the NLRA reinforces that right by

barring employers from engaging in any "unfair labor practice." Id. § 158. As

relevant here, an "unfair labor practice" includes employers' actions that

5
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"interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of [their Section

7] rights." Id. § 158(a)(1).

In Republic Aviation Corp. v. NLRB, the Supreme Court held that

these provisions give employees a qualified right to wear union "insignia" at

work. 324 U.S. 793, 801-03 & n.'7 (1945). The Court emphasized, however, that

this right is not "unlimited" in light of "the equally undisputed right of employ-

ers to maintain discipline in their establishments." Id. at 798. Thus, as the

Court later explained, an employer violates Section 8(a)(1) "only when the in-

terference with [Section] '7 rights outweighs the business justification for the

employer's action." Teactfile Workers Union of Arr. 'U. Darlington Mfg. Co., 380

U.S. 263, 269 (1965).

Under these long-recognized principles, an employer may lawfully main-

rain dress-code rules that restrict the display of union insignia if the employer

establishes "special circumstances" that "justify curtailment" of the em-

p10yee's Section 7 rights. NLRB 'U. Starbucks Corp., 679 F.3d '70, 77 (2d Cir.

2012);see Mid8tate Tel. Cmtyo. 7). NLRB, 706 F.2d 401, 403 (2d Cir. 1983). Spe-

cal circumstances include "maintaining a certain employee image (especially

with respect to uniformed employees)." Starbucks,679 F.3d at 77. The "spe-

cal circumstances" test was "designed to balance the potentially conflicting

6
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interests of an employee's right to display union insignia and an emp10yer's

right to limit or prohibit such display." S. New England Tel. Co. 7). NLRB, 793

F.3d 93, 96 (D.C. Cir. 2015) (internal quotations omitted).

Over the past several years, the NLRB has adopted diverging rules gov-

earning the scope of uniformed employees' rights to express pro-union

messages at work. In Was-MaW Stores, Inc., 368 NLRB No. 146 (Dec. 16,

2019), the Board held that, when an employer maintains a "facially neutral"

dress-code policy that limits-"but does not prohibit"-the wearing of union

insignia, the Board would not require "special circumstances" to uphold the

policy but instead would apply the standard from Boeing Co., 365 NLRB No.

154 (Dec. 14, 2017). Under Boeing, if an emp10yer's facially neutral policy po-

tentially interferes with the exercise of employees' Section '7 rights, the Board

balances "(i) the nature and extent of the potential impact on NLRA rights,

and (ii) legitimate justifications associated with the policy." Was-MaW, 368

NLRB No. 146, slip op. at 3 (citation and brackets omitted). Applying that

test, the Board upheld a "content-neutral" Wal-Mart policy that restricted

public-facing employees to wearing only "small, non-distracting logos or

graphics no larger than the size of [the emp10yee's] name badge." Id., slip

op. at l.

7
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After a change in administrations, however, a divided Board overruled

Was-Mwt and adopted a new test for determining "the lawfulness of work-

place rules or policies" that "implicitly" "restrict the display of union insignia

by requiring employees to wear uniforms or other designated clothing." Tesla,

Inc., 371 NLRB No. 131, slip op. at l (Aug. 29, 2022). Under that test, "[w]hen

an employer interferes in any way with its employees' right to display union

insignia," the interference is "presumptively unlawful," and the employer

must prove "special circumstances that outweigh the employees' right to wear

the insignia and that its prohibition is narrowly tailored to address those cir-

cumstances." Id., slip. op at 1, '7 (emphasis in original).

Board Members Kaplan and Ring dissented in Tesla. In their view, the

Board majority's test failed to "strike an accommodation between employee

rights and legitimate employer interests," because it places a "nearly insur-

mountable" burden on "employers seeking to justify uniform policies or dress

codes." Id., slip op. at 21, 26, 31 (Kaplan & Ring, MM., dissenting) ("We are

confident that it would come as a shock to the 74th Congress to learn that,

when it enacted the National Labor Relations Act, it abolished the right of

employers to maintain dress codes and uniform policies absent proof of special

circumstances, rarely to be found."). Member Ring, specifically, criticized the

8
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Board majority for "insist[ing]" that "any apparel rule that limits in any way

the right to display union insignia be 'narrowly tailored' to achieving an in-

terest the majority deems sufficiently compelling to warrant protection,"

explaining that the standard "is virtually identical to 'strict sci°utiny,' the most

exacting standard of review applied by the courts." Id., slip. op. 27 n.46. The

dissenters therefore recommended that the Board adhere to Was-Mart by

continuing to distinguish between dress codes that ban all union insignia and

those that provide "meaningful opportunities for employees to display union

insignia." Id., slip op. at 23.1

Soon thereafter, the Fifth Circuit vacated the Board's order in Tesla,

holding "the NLRA does not give the NLRB the authority to make all com-

party uniforms presumptively unlawful." Tesla, Inc. 7). NLRB, 86 F.4th 640,

644 (5th Cir. 2023). Further, the court rejected the Board's new test for de-

termining whether an employer established "special circumstances,"

1 Shortly after Tesla, a divided Board also overruled its decision in Eoefirzg,
holding that neutral work rules governing employee conduct are presump-
tively unlawful if an employee "could" interpret them to restrict an employee's
Section '7 rights. See Stericycle, Inc., 3'72 NLRB No. 113, slip. op at 9 (Aug. 2,
2023). Applying Stericycle, an ALJ has since ruled that Starbucks' employee
handbook language requiring respectful and non-vulgar communication vio-
lates Section 8(a)(1). See Starbucks Corp. & Workers United, No. 04-CA-
294636, 2023 WL 5140070 (N.L.R.B. Div. of Judges Aug. 10, 2023).

9
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explaining that it "failed to balance properly the competing interests of self-

organization and the right of employers to maintain discipline in their estab-

lishments." Id. at 651 (internal quotations omitted). Specifically, the Fifth

Circuit held, the Board "has not blanc[ed] the conflicting legitimate interests"

of employer and employee- "instead it has elevated employee interests at the

expense of legitimate employer interests." Id. (internal quotations omitted).

Under its policy of "nonacquiescence" to adverse circuit court decisions,

the Board continues to apply its Tesla decision to sanction employers even

though the Fifth Circuit vacated it. See SPA15 n.2'7; Home Depot USA, Inc.,

3'73 NLRB No. 25 (Feb. 21, 2024); Refvfeseo Beverages US, Inc., 373 NLRB

No. 148 (Dec. 16, 2024).

B. Factual History

l. Starbucks is the world's largest coffee purveyor, with over 9,000 com-

party operated stores in the United States. These familiar green-and-white

storefronts occupy street corners, shopping centers, and commercial districts,

offering a welcoming atmosphere where customers can stop in for a coffee dur-

ing their morning commute or between errands. JA274.

Although these traditional locations form the core of its business, Star-

bucks has expanded its offerings by establishing Starbucks Reserve

10
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Roasteries in select metropolitan areas-namely, New York City, Seattle, Chi-

cage, Shanghai, Milan, and Tokyo. JA238; JA245. Unlike traditional

neighborhood stores, these unique destinations function as both "immersive"

retail spaces and working coffee roasteries, designed to let customers "see

what it smells like, feels like, [and] tastes like to be a part of the magic that is

coffee." JA274.

This case involves the Starbucks Reserve Roastery in New York City.

Opened in 2018, the Roastery is a three-story facility that spans nearly 23,000

square feet, making it one of Starbucks' largest and most impressive flagship

locations in the world. JA79; JA265; JA283. In keeping with its goal of creat-

ing the "Willy Wonka of Coffee," Starbucks carefully designed the Roastery

to create a "multi-sensory experience" that takes customers "through the jour-

ney of coffee." JA288-89.

The Roastery's centerpiece is a large copper roasting cask, which stores

and then distributes freshly roasted coffee through overhead transparent

pipes designed to alert customers that fresh coffee is available. JA286; JA30l-

02. Meanwhile, multiple coffee bars occupy different areas of the open floor

plan, each offering distinctive brewing methods and coffee experiences una-

vailable at standard Starbucks locations. JA294-95, JA495-502. A bakery

11
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serves artisanal pastries and light meals, while the "Arriviamo" cocktail bar

crafts coffee-infused cocktails for evening customers. JA300, JA304. The

Roastery also includes a retail area where customers can purchase exclusive

coffee beans, brewing equipment, and Roastery-branded merchandise.

JA301.

Throughout the space, copper accents complement wooden surfaces and

industrial elements, creating a warm and sophisticated atmosphere where the

average customer spends about 45 minutes. JA274, JA285-88. Unsurpris-

infly, customers often take pictures and videos of the Roastery to memorialize

their visit, which for many is a "once in a lifetime" visit. JA81; JA274.

The Roastery's employees-whom Starbucks calls partners-play an

important role in delivering this experience to the customer. JA221. As

"brand ambassadors" for the Roastery, partners greet customers as they ar-

rive, guide them through coffee profiles and tasting notes, and facilitate

personalized recommendations based on each customer's preferences. JA221,

JA269-'70, Unlike traditional baristas, therefore, the Roastery's partners are

the "cast of characters" that deliver "the magic that the Roastery provides."

JA239.

2. To maintain the "integrity" of the Roastery "concept" and

12
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"experience," Starbucks has implemented a comprehensive partner dress

code that "blends into" the Roastery's "overall design." JA222, JA308. Spe-

cifically, Starbucks carefully designed the dress code to create a "hipster,"

"steampunk" aesthetic that reflects the Roastery's industrial design elements

and highlights its commitment to presenting coffee as an artisanal product.

JA222; JA515.

For partners working in either the coffee bars or retail area, the dress

code requires khaki pants, dark jeans, or skirts, along with button-down col-

tared shirts or turtlenecks in "muted colors tones of red, orange, yellow, green,

blue, brown, purple, black, brown and white." JA535. "Shirts must be a solid

color" or feature "a simple pattern or print," and may be worn tucked or un-

tucked. JA513? Further, similar to the policy upheld inWas-Mat discussed

above, although shirts "may have a small manufacturer's logo," they "must not

have other designs, logos, or writings." JA527. By minimizing distracting

logos or writings, the dress code aims to let customers focus on the Roastery's

2 The dress-code provisions for partners working in either the bakery or Ar-
riviamo cocktail bar are slightly different. Specifically, partners working in
the bakery may wear only "Princi branded shirts" provided by the Roastery,
and partners working in the Arriviamo cocktail bar may wear only "black"
button down shirts or turtlenecks. JA536-37.

13
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main event-the coffee itself. JA307-08.

The "only exception" to that rule allows partners to wear certain Star-

bucks-branded merchandise (such as Reserve Roastery t-shirts sold on-site)

or Starbucks "partner-network t-shirts." JA320, JA515. Partner networks

represent Starbucks-sponsored community groups, such as Hispanics, Afri-

can-Americans, or veterans. JA320-22. The partner-network t-shirts are

similar in design and color, and often feature a small logo that incorporates

elements representing the specific network's identity. JA321. For example,

the Hispanic partner-network shirt features the words "Hera del Cafe," which

means "Coffee Time" in Spanish. JA320. Partners wearing such shirts must

still wear a collared shirt or turtleneck underneath that complies with the re-

quirements set forth above. JA320, JA515.

Partners are also allowed to wear certain hats and accessories, including

fedoras, berets, "fun dress socks, handkerchiefs, ties, [and] bowties." JA535.

During the summer, a modified dress code permits partners working on the

outdoor patio to wear khaki or jean shorts and Roastery or partner-network

T-shirts. JA308-09; JA326; JA548.

Finally, every Roastery partner wears a heavy, greenish-brown apron

made from recycled canvas and imprinted with the Roastery's unique logo.

14
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JA290-91. The apron's leather straps echo design elements found throughout

the store, while the greenish-brown color deliberately mirrors the transfor-

motion of coffee from green beans to roasted product. JA290-91. The apron's

copper buttons likewise "connect[]" to the Roastery by corresponding to fea-

tubes like the copper-roasting cask, and the large copper statue of Siren,

Starbucks' iconic logo. JA29l.

3. The dress code allows partners to wear certain pins and buttons that,

in Starbucks' judgment, advance its expressive goals and further its public im-

age. Specifically, the dress code permits partners to wear four specific

categories of pins or buttons: (l) Starbucks-issued pins given for special recog-

nition or for promoting Starbucks-sponsored events or promotions (like the

"pumpkin spice latte"), (2) Starbucks-approved pins representing partner net-

works, (3) Black Lives Matter ("BLM") pins, and (4) one "reasonably sized

and placed button or pin that identifies a particular labor organization or a

partner's support for that organization." JA529. The Roastery's pin policy

provides that partners "are not permitted to wear buttons or pins that advo-

Cate a political, religious or personal issue." JA529.

Starbucks and the Board have already litigated one aspect of that pin

and button policy-namely, the provision allowing partners to wear only one
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pin or button that "identifies a particular labor organization or a partner's sup-

port for that organization" (hereinafter the "one-pin policy"). In 2010, the

Board held that Starbucks' one-pin policy was an unfair labor practice in vio-

lotion of Section 8(a)(l) of the NLRA. Starbucks thereafter sought review of

that decision in this Court, arguing that the Board had failed properly to con-

sider Starbucks' interest in the public image portrayed to its customers.

NLRB 'U. Starbucks Corp., 679 F.3d 70, 77-78 (2d Cir. 2012).

This Court agreed and vacated the Board's order, holding that it had

gone "too far in invalidating Starbucks's one button limitation." Id. at '78,

"Starbucks is clearly entitled to oblige its employees to wear buttons promot-

ing its products," the Court explained, "and the information contained on those

buttons is just as much a part of Starbucks's public image as any other aspect

of its dress code." Id. Further, the Court explained, Starbucks "adequately

maintains the opportunity to display pro-union sentiment by permitting one,

but only one, union button workplace clothing." Id. The Court therefore held

that the special-circumstances doctrine allowed Starbucks to prohibit "distrac-

son from its [chosen] messages," including workplace-related speech by its

employees that the NLRA otherwise protects. Id.
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4. This case stems from Starbucks' attempt to enforce a different provi-

sign of its dress code-namely, the requirement that, other than a "small

manufacturer's logo," shirts "must not have other designs, logos or writ-

inks." JA527. On September 19, 2022, several partners wore black t-shirts

bearing the name and logo of the Workers United union:

JA523.

That morning, a partner at the Roastery, Ashley Kido, arrived to work,

put on the Workers United t-shirt "over" her apron, and began her regular

duties "on the main floor" at the "primary coffee bar." JA107, JAl65. Between

five and seven other partners followed suit, each wearing a shirt "substantially

similar" to Kido's. JA163, JA523.
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A few hours later, the Roastery's Operations Manager, A1eX Sariyan,

arrived at the Roastery. JA160-61. As Operations Manager, Sariyan was re-

sponsible for, among other things, "ensuring" that partners "were dressed

appropriately and in dress code." JA161. Sariyan noticed that Kido and sev-

oral other partners were wearing the "logged black t-shirt[s]" bearing the

"Workers United logo." JA163. Sariyan therefore approached Kido, told Kido

that the t-shirts were not "approved dress code attire," and asked Kido and

the other partners to change "into approved dress code." JA164-65.

Kido initially refused, telling Sariyan that the Workers United shirts

"had been approved federally." JA106-08. Sariyan conferred with his boss by

phone and confirmed that the "partners were wearing non-approved dress

code." JA166. Sariyan returned to the coffee bar and again asked Kido and

the other partners to change their shirts. JA166-6'7. According to Kido, Sari-

yan also said that, if Kido refused, she would be written up for "being out of

dress code." JAll0. Kido and the other partners changed into dress-code-

compliant shirts and continued their shifts. JA524. Neither Kido nor any

other partner was written up or otherwise disciplined for being out of dress

code. JA524.
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C.

l. The NLR8 Complaint. In October 2022, Workers United filed a

Administrative Proceedings

charge against Starbucks with the Board, alleging that Starbucks violated

Section 8(a)(l) of the NLRA by ordering Kido and the other partners to re-

move their Workers United t-shirts. JA381. Following an investigation, the

Board's General Counsel issued a complaint, initiating administrative proceed-

inks. See generally Starbucks Corp. 'U. McKinney, 602 U.S. 339, 342-43 (2024),

29 U.S.C. §§ 160(b), (c), 29 C.F.R. §§ 101.10-12.

Although the Kido incident involved only Starbucks' t-shirt policy, the

General Counsel's complaint also put at issue Starbucks' pin policies. Specifi-

cally, the complaint alleged that Starbucks had violated the NLRA by (l)

limiting partners to wearing just one union pin or button at a time, (2) prohib-

iring partners "from wearing pins or buttons that advocate for a political,

religious, or personal issue", (3) "maintaining and enforcing a dress-code pol-

icy that prohibits employees from wearing shirts or tops that have logos,

writings, or designs", (4) ordering employees to remove union t-shirts, and (5)

threatening Kido with discipline if she refused to remove the union t-shirt.

JA383-87; JA449-53; JA478-79; see SPA5; SPA7.
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2. The ALJ's Decision. After a three-day hearing in September 2023,

the ALJ issued a decision finding that Starbucks had committed four of the

five alleged unfair labor practices.

First, in light of this Court's decision in NLRB 'U. Starbucks, discussed

above, the ALJ held that the General Counsel was collaterally estopped from

arguing that the one-pin policy was an unfair labor practice, holding that this

Court had "already" "supplied" the answer to that question. SPA14 (citing 679

F.3d '70 (2d Cir. 2012)). The ALJ specifically rejected the General Counsel's

argument that the Roastery's "multi-faceted, elaborately written dress code"

dictated a different outcome: "The General Counsel and Respondent litigated

[this] very question through the Circuit Court and the Circuit Court deter-

mined that Respondent's maintenance of the one-pin rule does not violate the

Act." SPA14. The ALJ therefore recommended dismissal of this allegation.

spA14.

Second, the ALJ held that Starbucks' prohibition on "political, religious

or personal" pins was an unfair labor practice. SPA18. There was no evidence

that any employee had attempted or desired to wear such pins. The ALJ

acknowledged that the "General Counsel did not present any specific evidence

at the hearing regarding this allegation," but nonetheless concluded that the
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policy facially "infringes on employees' Section '7 rights" by signaling "to part-

hers engaged in protected, concerted advocacy, such as wearing Fight for $15

buttons that such activities are prohibited." SPA18. The ALJ further

held-applying the Board's test from Tesla-that the policy was not narrowly

tailored to serve Starbucks' public image because it permitted BLM and Star-

bucks partner-network pins, "yet excludes all other personal, religious, or

political advocacy." SPA18.

Third, the ALJ held that Starbucks committed an unfair labor practice

by prohibiting employees from wearing t-shirts with "logos, writings, or de-

signs." SPA17. The ALJ acknowledged that the "steampunk, hipster chic

design aesthetic" of the dress code was meant to "mesh with the appearance

of the Roastery itself." SPAl'7. Applying the Tesla test, however, the ALJ

held that, because Starbucks allowed partners to wear "Starbucks Roastery

T-shirts and sweatshirts, as well as Partner-Network Shirts," the "exclusion

of union t-shirts" was not "narrowly tailored to serve a particular, legitimate

interest" and hence Starbucks' interests did not "outweigh the adverse impact

on employees' Section '7 rights." SPA17.

In light of that conclusion, the ALJ further held that Starbucks had also

committed the fourth and fifth alleged unfair labor practices: ordering
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partners to remove their union t- shirts, and threatening Kido with discipline

for refusing to comply with that order. SPA18-19.

3. The Board's Decision. On November 2'7, 2024, the Board issued a

final order affirming all of the ALJ's findings and conclusions, save for the

holding that issue preclusion prevented the General Counsel from arguing

that the one-pin policy constituted an unfair labor practice. SPA1 .

As to that holding, the Board concluded that issue preclusion did not bar

the claim because the Roastery's dress code "differ[s] significantly" from the

dress code at issue in the "2012 Second Circuit case." SPA3. The Board em-

phasized that the dress code at issue in the "earlier case" required partners to

wear "black or white tops and black, white or khaki bottoms," whereas the

dress code at the Roastery permits partners to wear Starbucks "partner-net-

work T-shirts," along with other shirts with "an expanded color palette."

SPA3. The Board purportedly "treat[ed] the question as one of issue pre-

elusion," but also cited its longstanding "policy of nonacquiescence in adverse

circuit court decisions." SPA3 n.10.

The Board next considered whether "special circumstances" justified

the Roastery's one-pin policy. The Board acknowledged that special circum-

stances, including employers' need to establish a uniform public image, entitle
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employers to impose some limits on the wearing of union insignia in the work-

place. SPA4. But it nonetheless held that, by encouraging employees to wear

other pins or "adornments"-including "Starbucks and Starbucks partner-

network pins," along with "bowties, fedoras, and berets"-Starbucks lost its

ability to limit the number of pro-union pins donned by its partners. SPA5. In

discussing the merits of this issue, the Board did not so much as mention or

attempt to account for this Court's holding in NLRB 'U. Starbucks Corp., 679

F.3d '70 (2d Cir. 2012).

The Board ordered Starbucks to, among other things, (l) cease and de-

sist from maintaining the Roastery's pin policies and the challenged parts of

its dress code and (2) affirmatively rescind the one-pin policy, the prohibition

on "political, religious, or personal" pins, and the portion of the dress code that

restricts "10g0s, writings, or designs" on partners' shirts. SPA5-6. The Board

also ordered Starbucks to post a notice at the Roastery and to inform partners

via dress-code inserts that portions of the dress code have been rescinded.

spA6-7.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should grant Starbucks' petition and deny enforcement of

the Board's Order in all respects.
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I. The Board flouted this Court's decision in NLRB 'U. Starbucks Corp. ,

679 F.3d '70 (2d Cir. 2012), when it held that Starbucks committed an unfair

labor practice by limiting partners to wearing only one union button or pin.

In 2012, this Court held that the Board had "gone too far in invalidating"

a Starbucks dress code "provision limiting employees to displaying only one

pro-union button on their work uniforms." Starbucks, 679 F.3d at '71, 78. Yet

here the Board doubled down, again invalidating the same one-pin policy.

SPA5. In doing so, the Board rejected the ALJ's finding that issue preclusion

barred the claim, distinguishing this case on the ground that the prior case

involved a neighborhood Starbucks store where partners wore different uni-

forms than the Roastery uniforms. SPA3-4.

Even assuming that distinction sufficed to reject the ALJ's issue-preclu-

sign finding, it is plainly insufficient to justify the Board's refusal to follow this

Court's decision on the merits. Nothing in this Court's prior decision even

remotely suggests that other provisions of the dress code-namely, those pre-

scribing what color shirts and pants to wear-had any bearing on the Court's

decision that the Board "had gone too far." Starbucks, 679 F.3d at 78.

The Board's reasoning is impossible to reconcile with this Court's rejec-

son of essentially the same reasoning in the prior appeal-reasoning that the
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Board here did not deign to mention, and which it expressly stated its intention

to disregard in another adjudication decided nine months before this one. See

Home Depot USA, Inc., 373 NLRB No. 25, slip. op. at 12 n.28 (Feb. 21, 2024)

(stating that the Board would not acquiesce in this Court's Starbucks decision).

The Board was not free to ignore that decision, however, and thus its unfair

labor practice finding cannot stand.

II. By holding that Starbucks' prohibition of shirts with "logos, writings,

or designs" and "political, religious, or personal" pins or buttons were unfair

labor practices, the Board applied an erroneous legal test from its vacated de-

cision in Tesla Inc., 371 NLRB No. 131 (Aug. 29, 2022), exceeded its statutory

authority, and violated Starbucks' First Amendment rights.

A. First, the Board committed reversible legal error by applying its va-

cared decision in Tesla to hold that neutral and nondiscriminatory uniform

policies are presumptively unlawful. The Board based that rule on the Su-

preme Court's decision in Republic Aviation Corp. 1). NLR8, 324 U.S. 793

(1945), but the Board's interpretation of Republic Aviation, which receives no

deference, is untenable. Further, under the NLRA's plain text, neutral and

non-discriminatory dress-code policies that allow employees alternative ways

to express support for a union-like Starbucks' dress code does-do not
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"interfere" with, "restrain" or "coerce" employees' rights under the NLRA.

Starbucks was not required to prove special circumstances for its neutral and

non-discriminatory dress-code policies.

B. Second, the law requires that the Board balance the employees' in-

terest in pro-union expression against the emp10yer's legitimate interests in

workplace appearance and business messaging. Rather than balance those

interests, however, the Board applied a narrow-tailoring requirement from its

vacated Tesla decision. That requirement has no foothold in this Court's prec-

edents and is plainly inconsistent with the Board's obligation to strike the

proper balance between employer and employee interests.

C. Thud, the Board's action far exceeds its statutory authority and vio-

fates the First Amendment. The NLRA does not authorize the Board to

regulate employees' religious or political speech that has no connection to the

terms and conditions of employment. Nor does the NLRA authorize the

Board to tell employers that their employees cannot wear other companies'

logos on their work uniforms as "personal" preferences. Yet the Board com-

pletely invalidated Starbucks' facially neutral prohibition on "political,

religious, or personal" pins and Starbucks' prohibition on shirts with logos,
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writings, or designs-even if the logo, writing, or design has no nexus to a spe-

cific employment concern.

In SO doing, the Board violated Starbucks' First Amendment rights.

When Roastery partners wear pins or buttons expressing political, religious,

or personal messages while serving customers, they act as Starbucks' spokes-

persons, making their expressions effectively Starbucks' speech. The

government cannot compel Starbucks to communicate messages it does not

wish to express. Further, even if the pins or buttons were also considered

employee speech, the Board's order would still violate the First Amendment-

specifically by forcing Starbucks to use its private property as a "mobile bill-

board" for others' ideological messages, Wooled 'U. Maynard, 430 U.S. 705, 715

(19'7'7), and to "assist in disseminating" speech with which it may disagree, Pa-

cific Gas & Elec. Co. 1). Public Util. Comm'ii ofCal., 475 U.S. 1, 15 (1986).

That Starbucks voluntarily allowed Black Lives Matter pins while pro-

hibiting other advocacy pins underscores its First Amendment right to

editorial discretion. The Board cannot constitutionally force Starbucks to dis-

play all political, religious, or personal messages simply because it chose to

permit one specific message.
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III. Although it was error for the Board to demand special circum-

stances here, Starbucks proved special circumstances in any event. Even

when employees are restricted in communicating their message through one

medium, courts consider employees' alternative opportunities to communicate

within the special circumstances analysis. With respect to the prohibition on

"political, religious, and personal" pins, the Board gave that consideration no

weight at all. And, with respect to the prohibition on shirts with "10g0s, writ-

inks, or designs," the Board turned that consideration upside down, holding

that the one-pin policy cut against Starbucks' policy. SPA17. Further, by

focusing exclusively on whether the dress-code rule was narrowly tailored, the

Board failed to consider all of the other relevant factors required by this

Court's precedent, further demonstrating that it applied the special circum-

stances test "in an unreasonable way." S. New England Tel. Co., 793 F.3d at

96.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court reviews the Board's legal conclusions de novo. NLRB 'U. New-

ark Elec. Corp., 14 F.4th 152, 159 (2d Cir. 2021), see Loper 8w°ght Enters. 7).

Rafimoftzdo,603 U.S. 369, 403-05 (2024). In applying the law, the Board cannot

"refuse to follow unfavorable decisions from the Court of Appeals where it
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is likely that the case will come up for review before the very court with which

the Board disagrees." Ithaca Coll. 7). NLRB, 623 F.2d 224, 228 (2d Cir. 1980).

Nor may the Board refuse to follow Supreme Court precedent. See, e.g.,

NLRB 'U. Ky. River City. Care, Inc., 532 U.S. 706, 721 (2001).

Where, as here, the Board adopts part of an ALJ's decision, this Court

reviews both decisions. See NLRB 'U. Special Touch Home Care Saws., Inc.,

566 F.3d 292, 29'7 (2d Cir. 2009).

ARGUMENT

I. The Board Ignored This Court's Controlling Precedent When It
Held That Starbucks' One-Pin Policy Violates the NLRA

As an initial matter, this Court should apply its prior Starbucks prece-

dent and hold that the Roastery's one-pin policy does not violate Section

8(a)(l). Every federal agency, including the Board, is "bound to follow the law

of the Circuit" in matters within the jurisdiction of this Court, unless and until

it is changed by this Court or reversed by the Supreme Court. See Ithaca

College,623 F.2d at 228;SDEC Holdings, Inc. 7).NLRB, 711 F.3d 281, 290-91

(2d Cir. 2013); He avtlwtzd Plymouth Ct. MI, LLC 7). NLRB, 838 F.3d 16, 20

(D.C. Cir. 2016). The separation of powers and the rule of law demand no less.

Whenever an executive agency defies controlling judicial precedent, it arro-

gates a power that the Constitution has assigned to a different branch, and it
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distorts the ability of citizens to plan their affairs with knowledge of what con-

duct is "forbidden or required." FCC 1). F090Television Stations, Iiic.,567 U.S.

239, 253 (2012).

The Board here flouted that requirement, proceeding as if this Court's

decision in NLRB 7). Starbucks Cmtyo., 679 F.3d '70 (2d Cir. 2012), did not exist,

and imposing liability on Starbucks for maintaining the same exact one-pin

policy that this Court previously upheld as a "necessary and appropriate

means" of protecting Starbucks' "legitimate managerial interest[s]." Id. at 78.

1. By way of background, in 2006, Starbucks and the Board entered into

a settlement agreement to resolve an unfair labor practice charge filed by a

union. SPA13. That charge alleged that Starbucks had violated the NLRA by

refusing to permit partners to wear union pins and buttons in several New

York City neighborhood stores. SPA13. As part of the settlement, Starbucks

modified its partner dress code by adding the same pin and button policy that

it maintains at the Roastery today:

Partners are not permitted to wear buttons or pins that advocate
a political, religious or personal issue. The only buttons or pins
that will be permitted are those issued to the partner by Starbucks
for special recognition or advertising a Starbucks-sponsored event
or promotion, and reasonably-sized and placed buttons 07" pins
that identify a particular labor organization or a partner's sap-
port for that organization, except if they interfere with safety or
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threaten to harm customer relations or otherwise unreasonably
interfere with Starbucks public image.

SPAl3 (emphasis added).

Shortly after the settlement, "Starbucks management interpreted this

rule to preclude the wearing of more than one pro-union pin." Starbucks, 679

F.3d at 78. The Board's General Counsel responded by filing a complaint

against Starbucks, claiming that limiting partners to only one union pin or but-

ton violated Section 8(a)(l). JA582-86; see SPA18. Starbucks countered that

the policy was lawful because "special circumstances" justified the modest lim-

itation on its partners' ability to display union insignia. Starbucks, 679 F.3d at

77-78.

The Board rejected that argument, reasoning that multiple pro-union

buttons "did not seriously harm" Starbucks' "legitimate interest in employee

image" because the buttons "were no more conspicuous than the panoply of

other buttons displayed"-and because Starbucks "not only countenanced but

encouraged employees to wear multiple buttons as part of that image." Id. at

77. Starbucks sought review of that decision in this Court, arguing that the

Board had failed properly to balance Starbucks' interest in the public image

portrayed to its customers. Id. at 77-78.
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This Court agreed with Starbucks and vacated the Board's order, hold-

ing that it had gone "too far in invalidating Starbucks's one button limitation.77

Id. at 78. The Court recognized that the NLRA provides employees with a

qualified right to wear union insignia at work, SO it turned to the question

whether Starbucks had shown "special circumstances" that "justify curtail-

rent of the right." Id. at 77.

The Court recognized three key points. First, "Starbucks is clearly en-

titled to oblige its employees to wear buttons promoting its products," and the

"information contained on those buttons is just as much a part of Starbucks's

public image as any other aspect of its dress code." Id. at '78. Second, Star-

bucks is "entitled to avoid the distraction from its messages that a number of

union buttons would risk," and that "[w]eaI°ing such a large number of union

buttons would risk serious dilution of the information contained on Starbucks's

buttons." Id. And third, Starbucks "adequately" maintained "the opportunity

to display pro-union sentiment"-specifically, "by permitting one, but only

one, union button on workplace clothing." Id. The Court therefore held that

"Starbucks has met its burden of establishing that the one button restriction

is a necessary and appropriate means of protecting its legitimate managerial
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interest in displaying a particular public image through the messages con-

fained on employee buttons." Id.

2. That decision controls this case. Just like the one-pin policy there,

the one-pin policy here allows Starbucks' partners to wear one "reasonably

sized and placed button or pin that identifies a particular labor organization or

a partner's support for that organization, except if it interferes with safety or

threatens to harm customer relations or otherwise unreasonably interferes

with Starbucks public image." Compare SPA2, with Starbucks, 679 F.3d at

'73. And just like the one-pin policy there, the one-pin policy here allows Star-

bucks' partners to wear other "buttons or pins issued to the partner by

Starbucks for special recognition or for advertising a Starbucks-sponsored

event or promotion." Compare SPA2,with Starbucks, 679 F.3d at 73.

The only difference between the two policies is that here, unlike there,

Starbucks permitted partners to wear Black Lives Matter ("BLM") pins.

SPA2. As the ALJ recognized, however, "this minor change is factually im-

material to the central issue concerning this specific allegation-whether

[Starbucks'] maintenance of a dress code rule limiting its NYC Roastery part-

hers to wearing one pin identifying a particular labor organization violates

Section 8(a)(1) of the [NLRA]." SPA14. By allowing partners to wear BLM
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pins alongside other Starbucks pins, Starbucks made the considered decision

that this particular expression aligns with the public image it seeks to cultivate

at the Roastery-"a legitimate managerial interest" that is "just as much a

part of Starbucks's public image as any other aspect of its dress code." Star-

bucks, 679 F.3d at 78.

Accordingly, here as there, the Board has "gone too far" in holding that

Starbucks could not impose a reasonable and uniformly enforced limit on the

number of pro-union pins worn by partners who interact directly with the pub-

lie. Id.

3. In rejecting the ALJ's issue preclusion holding, the Board purported

to distinguish this Court's prior decision on the improbable ground that "[t]he

earlier case involved neighborhood Starbucks' stores where the employees

were restricted to wearing black or white tops and black, white, or khaki bot-

toms." SPA3. The Board did much the same once it got to the merits,

emphasizing that the Roastery partners were permitted to wear a variety of

colors and other adornments such as hats. SPA5. But even assuming that

distinction is sufficient to reject the ALJ's issue-preclusion finding-an often

"difficult" issue that the Court need not reach here, United States 7). Calm, 521
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F.2d 605, 607 (2d Cir. l9'75)-it is plainly insufficient to distinguish the two

cases on the merits.

Nothing in this Court's Starbucks decision even remotely suggests that

other aspects of Starbucks' dress code-namely, those aspects prescribing

what color shirts and pants Starbucks' partners were required to wear-bore

on its conclusion that the Board had "gone too far." 679 F.3d at '78, In fact,

the Court did not SO much as mention those aspects of the dress code, rather,

in describing the facts, the Court said only that Starbucks' dress code "in-

eludes rules about appropriate types and colors of shoes, pants, socks, shirts,

undershirts, and jewelry"-which of course is just as true here. See id. at '72,

Further, the remainder of the Board's reasoning is impossible to recon-

cile with this Court's rejection of essentially the same reasoning in the prior

appeal-reasoning the Board did not even mention in its terse discussion of

the "special circumstances" doctrine. According to the Board below, allowing

partners to wear multiple pro-union buttons or pins would not "conflict" with

Starbucks' legitimate interest in its "public image" because Starbucks "per-

mitted employees to wear as many Starbucks and Starbucks' partner network

pins as they liked as well as Black Lives Matter pins." SPA5 (footnote omit-

red).
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If that line of reasoning sounds familiar, it should. It is precisely the

argument the Board made in the earlier appeal-namely, "that allowing pro-

union employees to wear multiple buttons did not seriously harm Starbucks's

legitimate interest in employee image because the Company not only counte-

narced but encouraged employees to wear multiple buttons as part of that

image." Starbucks,679 F.3d at 77 (internal quotations omitted).

The answer to that argument, therefore, is the same today as it was then.

Today, as then, Starbucks is "entitled to avoid the distraction from its mes-

sages that a number of union buttons would risk." Id. at 78. Today, as then,

"[t]he company adequately maintains the opportunity to display pro-union

sentiment by permitting one, but only one, union button on workplace cloth-

ing." Id. And today, as then, "Starbucks has met its burden of establishing

that the one button restriction is a necessary and appropriate means of pro-

tecting its legitimate managerial interest in displaying a particular public

image through the messages contained on employee buttons." Id.

4. The Board's attempt to distinguish Starbucks is of a piece with its

long and unfortunate history of attempted end runs around binding circuit

precedent. See Heartland Plymouth, 838 F.3d at 18 (ordering the Board to

pay attorney's fees for "bad-faith" nonacquiescence). In rejecting the ALJ's
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collateral estoppel conclusion, the Board also cited-buried in a footnote-its

longstanding "policy of nonacquiescence in adverse circuit court decisions."

SPA3 n.l0. Under that policy, as the Board has described it, where "the Board

views a contrary court ruling as inconsistent with the Act's policies, the Board

is not required, on either legal or pragmatic grounds, to automatically follow

[ i t ] . " Sunbelt Rentals, Inc., 372 NLRB No. 24, slip op. 17 fn. 40 (Dec. 15, 2022)

(internal quotations omitted).

In limited circumstances, that policy may have its virtues. For example,

when the Board declines to adhere to an unfavorable judicial ruling outside of

the court's jurisdiction-sometimes called "intercircuit nonacquiescence"-it

may properly seek to persuade other courts of appeals that its interpretation

of the law is correct, thereby facilitating the Supreme Court's resolution of

conflicts over the meaning of federal law. He wrftland Plymouth,838 F.3d at

21-22.

But, as this Court has emphasized, it is another matter altogether "to

refuse to follow unfavorable decisions from the Courts of Appeals where it

is likely that the case will come up for review before the very court with which

the Board disagrees." Ithaca College, 623 F.2d at 228, see Johnson 7). US.

RR. Ret. Bd., 969 F.2d 1082, 1091 (D.C. Cir. 1992). That sort of arrogation
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runs through the separation-of-powers tripwires in a way that "intercircuit

nonacquiescence" does not.

This case is not the first in this Circuit where the Board has breached

that perimeter. In Ithaca College, the Board refused to "acquiesce" to this

Court's earlier decision in NLRB 1). Yeshiva University, which had held that

certain college-faculty members were supervisory employees under the

NLRA and hence ineligible for inclusion in a bargaining unit. 582 F.2d 686 (2d

Cir. 1976). Before this Court, the Board made a half-hearted attempt to justify

its nonacquiescence on procedural grounds, but also argued more boldly that

controlling circuit precedent did not bind the Board until the Supreme Court

weighed in. See Ithaca College, 623 F.2d at 22'7-28.

This Court rejected that argument emphatically:

[T]he Board cannot, as it did here, choose to ignore the decision as
if it had no force or effect. Absent reversal, that decision is the law
which the Board must follow. The Board cites no contrary author-
ity except its own consistent practice of refusing to follow the law
of the circuit unless it coincides with the Board's views. This is in-
tolerable if the rule of law is to prevail.

Id. at 228.

The same can be said where, rather than clearly asserting its nonacqui-

escence, the Board attempts to distinguish controlling precedent a"in

disingenuous, evasive, and in short dishonest manner.77 Nielsen
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Lithogvfaplvfing Co. 7). NLRB, 854 F.2d 1063, 106'7 ('7th Cir. 1988); see NLRB 7).

A. Dale Pyle, Inc., 730 F.2d 119, 128 (3d Cir. 1984);Yellow Traci Co. ofMiwne-

apolfis 7). NLRB, 721 F.2d 366, 385 (D.C. Cir. 1983) (Bork, J., concurring); PPG

Indus., Inc. 7). NLRB, 671 F.2d 817, 820-23 (4th Cir. 1982). Engaging in that

sort of ball-hiding to nullify circuit precedent effects precisely the kind of per-

version that this Court found repellent in Ithaca College.

Yet here all signs point to the Board doing just that. As shown above,

sup pp. 34-36, the Board's attempt to distinguish Starbucks is by turns im-

plausible and evasive. And if that were not clear enough from the four corners

of the Order, the Board's express rejection of Starbucks in another case de-

cided less than a year before this one leaves no doubt. In Home Depot, the

Board put a finer point on it: "We respectfully disagree with the decision[] in

NLRB 'U. Starbucks Cmtyo., 679 F.3d '70 (2d Cir. 2012) to the extent that [it

is] inconsistent with the Board's decisions in [that] case[] and the principles

stated herein." Home Depot USA, Inc., 373 NLRB No. 25, slip. op. at 12 n.28

(Feb. 21, 2024).

Accordingly, it is difficult to conceive of the Board's reasoning here as

anything other than a "roguish form of nonacquiescence" that "dares" the los-

ing party to employ "the money and power [needed] to pay for and survive the
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process of fighting with an agency through its administrative processes and

into the federal courts of appeals." Heartland Plymouth,838 F.3d at 28 (cita-

son omitted).

This Court should therefore vacate the Board's unfair-labor-practice

finding regarding Starbucks' one-pin policy. This Court's precedent in Star-

bucks directly controls this case and permits the challenged policy as a

"necessary and appropriate means" of protecting legitimate managerial inter-

ests. 679 F.3d at 78. And the Board cannot evade that holding through the

implausible distinctions it purported to draw here.

11. The Board Erred in Applying the Standard It Adopted intheVacated
Tesla Decision

The Board also invalidated two other provisions of the Roastery's dress-

code policy-namely, the prohibition of "political, religious, or personal" pins

or buttons and the prohibition of shirts with "logos, writings, or designs.77

SPAl'7-l8. In doing so, the Board relied on its decision in Tesla, reiterating

that any "facially neutral, nondiscriminatory" dress code or uniform policy

that"implicitly" limits or restricts "the display of union insignia" is presump-

lively unlawful unless the employer can prove that the policy is "narrowly

tailored to serve a particular, legitimate interest that outweighs the adverse
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effect on employees' Section '7 rights." SPA16 (citing Tesla, Inc., 371 NLRB

No. 131, slip. op at8 fn. 21 (Aug. 29, 2022)) (emphasis added).

Administrative law rests on the principle that agencies may not act in a

manner that is "arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not

in accordance with law." 5 U.S.C. § '706(2)(a). This Court has thus refused to

enforce Board orders that have "no reasonable basis in law, either because the

proper legal standard was not applied or because the Board applied the correct

standard but failed to afford the plain language of the standard its ordinary

meaning." WPIX Inc. 'U. NLRB, 8'70 F.2d 858, 864 (2d Cir. 1989) (internal

quotations omitted).

Here, the Board committed legal error in applying Tesla to bar Star-

bucks from imposing and enforcing a rule permitting one union pin but

otherwise prohibiting pins with "political, religious, or personal" messages and

shirts or tops with "10g0s, writings, or designs." SPA17-18. The Board unlaw-

fully treated these facially neutral dress-code restrictions as presumptively

unlawful, imposing an unsupported narrow-tailoring requirement incompati-

be with this Court's precedents. As a result, the Board stepped far outside its

bounds, micro-managing Starbucks' ability to restrict, for example, religious

41



Case: 24-3168, 04/15/2025, DktEntry: 58.1, Page 48 of 99

messages having nothing to do with protected activity, and compelling Star-

bucks' speech in violation of the First Amendment.

A. Republic Aviation and the NLRA's Text Do Not Support a Pre-
sumption That Facially Neutral Uniform Requirements Are
Unlawful

According to the Board, its Tesla rule follows directly from the Supreme

Court's decision in Republic Aviation. SPA15 (citing Republic Aviation, 324

U.S. at 802-03 & n.'7). But Republic Aviation does not support the Board's

conclusion. This Court owes no deference to Board decisions, like the one here,

that "purport to rest on the Board's interpretation of Supreme Court opin-

ions." New York New York, LLC 7). NLRB,313 F.3d 585, 590 (D.C. Cir. 2002),

see also Mil~cLi¢@ Enters., Inc. 'U. NLRB, 861 F.3d 812, 823 (8th Cir. 2017) (en

bane). And on any fair reading, Republic Aviation does not support the

Board's conclusion that facially neutral and non-discriminatory dress-code

policies are presumptively unlawful.

In Republic Aviation, the employer discharged three employees for

wearing buttons that marked them as "stewards" for a particular union. 324

U.S. at 795. After the Board initiated unfair-labor-practice proceedings

against the employer, the employer argued that it sought to bar the employees

from communicating a pro-union message because it believed it would cause
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confusion or mislead employees into supporting the union. Id. at 801. The

Board rejected that asserted justification because there was "no evidence" of

confusion. Id. at 801 n.'7. In a notably short opinion, the Supreme Court af-

firmed the Board's decision, explaining that the Board had "fairly

explicated" the "theory which moved it to its conclusion[]." Id. at 803 & n.'7.

Although the Court upheld the Board's finding, it took pains to empha-

size the Board's obligation to balance employee and employer interests,

"working out an adjustment between the undisputed right of self-organization

assured to employees and the equally undisputed right of employers to

maintain discipline in their establishments." Id. at '79'7-98, see NLRB 'U. Eab-

cock & Wilcox Co., 351 U.S. 105, 112 (1956) (the Board should accommodate

employee and employer rights "with as little destruction of one as is consistent

with the maintenance of the other"). "Opportunity to organize and proper dis-

spline," the Court explained, "are both essential elements in a balanced

society." Republic Aviation, 324 U.S. at 798.

Thus, as the Fifth Circuit recognized, the Board's "rule here"-namely,

that all facially neutral, non-discriminatory dress-code policies are presump-

lively unlawful-"cannot possibly have been derived from Republic Aviation

or its progeny." Tesla, 86 F.4th at 650. For one thing, "the deference the
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Court showed to the NLRB's analysis in Republic Aviation turned primarily

on factual issues." Id. at 649. And the employer in Republic Aviation had

discharged the employees precisely because of the pro-union message they at-

tempted to convey-thereby requiring the employer to put forward a

compelling reason for its actions. See Was-Mat, 368 NLRB 146, slip op. at 2

n.10 ("In Republic Aviation the Supreme Court held that the employer un-

lawfully prohibited employees from wearing a specific UAW-CIO union

steward button."), see Tesla, Inc., 371 NLRB No. 131, slip. op at 24 (Kaplan &

Ring, MM., dissenting) ("[T]his was an explicit prohibition against displaying

a specific union insignia because it was a union insignia.").

Here, by contrast, the two Starbucks dress-code policies at issue-

namely, those prohibiting the wearing of "political, religious, or personal" pins,

or shirts with "logos, writings, or designs"-are neutral and nondiscrimina-

tory towards Section '7 rights. Each policy maintains neutrality by applying

identical restrictions to both union and non-union messaging, prohibiting all

logos, writings, and designs (on shirts or tops) regardless of their content, and

all political, religious, and personal pins regardless of their viewpoint. Neither

policy targets union insignia specifically. Crucially, moreover, the Roastery's

partners remain free to express support for a union by wearing one union
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button or pin. See Tesla,86 F.4th at 649 (refusing to presume illegality where

the policy allows for "content neutrality, nondiscrimination, and freedom to

attach any expressive union insignia to any piece of the uniform").

Thus, as the Fifth Circuit held in Tesla, the Board erred by extending

the "special circumstances" test to a neutral and non-discriminatory uniform

policy that leaves open alternate channels of communication, not once pausing

to ask whether the policies act "as an unreasonable impediment to the exercise

of the right to self-organization." Republic Aviation, 324 U.S. at 802 n.8. (ci-

ration omitted), see Tesla,86 F.4th 649-51.

The statutory text confirms the point. Section 8(a)(1) makes it an unfair

labor practice for an employer "to interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees

in the exercise of the rights guaranteed in [Section '7]." 29 U.S.C. § 158(a)(l).

And Section 7, in relevant part, gives employees the right to form unions, bar-

gain collectively, and "engage in other concerted activities for the purpose of

collective bargaining or other mutual aid or protection." Id. § 157. Section

8(a)(l), by its terms, requires an adverse effect on the employees' Section '7

rights. If employees are free to exercise their rights by wearing a union pin,

the employer is not interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees with

respect to those rights. See Tesla, 86 F.4th at 651 (refusing "to enforce a

45



Case: 24-3168, 04/15/2025, DktEntry: 58.1, Page 52 of 99

prohibition of nondiscriminatory policies under which employees are permit-

red to 'adorn' their company uniform with union insignia").

Section '7 does not mention any right to wear any and all items of clothing

or insignia. Rather, it narrowly protects the "right to organize unions and

bargain collectively." Epic Sys.Corp. 7).Lewis,584 U.S. 497, 511 (2018). Those

rights, to be sure, "necessarily encompass[] the right effectively to communi-

Cate with one another regarding self-organization at the jobsite." Beth Israel

Hosp. 7). NLRB,437 U.S. 483, 491 (19'78). By protecting the right to engage in

effective communication, however, Section '7 does not create a freestanding

right to communicate using whatever channels an employee prefers, whenever

the employee prefers. See NLRB 'U. United Steelworkers of Am., CIO, 357

U.S. 357, 364 (1958) (even if an employer policy "ha[s] the effect of closing off

one channel of communication," the statute "does not command that labor OI'-

ganizations as a matter of abstract law, under all circumstances, be protected

in the use of every possible means of reaching the minds of individual work-

ers").

Yet, as the Fifth Circuit explained, "the Board's rule does precisely

that"-it "protects 'every possible means' of attire and entitles employees to
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the 'medium of' union attire 'simply because' [the employer] 'is using it."'

Tesla, 86 F.4th at 651-52 (quotingUnited Steelworkers,357 U.S. at 364).

In sum, neither Republic Aviation nor the statutory text authorizes the

Board's decision to make neutral and nondiscriminatory uniform require-

merits presumptively unlawful, even when those requirements do not restrict

employees' ability to effectively communicate. The Court thus need not reach

the question whether Starbucks proved "special circumstances" to justify its

dress-code policy.

B. Tesla's "Narrow Tailoring" Standard Is Contrary to Precedent
and Undermines the Purpose of a Balancing Test

Even if the Board was permitted to require a showing of "special cir-

cumstances," the Board erred in applying the "narrow tailoring" requirement.

SPAl'7-18. That narrow-tailoring requirement has no foothold in this Court's

precedents, and it is plainly inconsistent with the Board's obligation to "strike

the pvfoper balance between the asserted business justifications and the inva-

sign of employee rights." NLRB 1). Fleetwood Trailer Co., 389 U.S. 375, 3'78

(1967) (emphasis added).

1. To start, this Court has long recognized that, when considering an

employer's special-circumstances defense, courts are required to "balance[]"

the emp10yee's Section '7 rights "against the emp10yer's managerial interests."
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Distwbt Lodge 91 'U. NLRB, 814 F.2d 876, 879 (2d Cir. l 98'7) (citingRepublic

Aviation, 324 U.S. at 797-98). In applying that balancing test, moreover, this

Court has not once demanded that the employer both (l) "demonstrate special

circumstances" and (2) "al8o that [its policy] is narrowly tailored" to those cir-

cumstances. SPA4 (emphasis added).

In Starbucks, for example, the Court did not require Starbucks to show

that its one-pin policy was narrowly tailored to "maintaining a certain em-

ployee image." 679 F.3d at 77-78. Instead, the Court weighed Starbucks'

"legitimate managerial interest" in protecting its public image against the em-

ployees' interest in "display[ing] pro-union sentiment." Id. at 78. And the

Court ultimately concluded, after balancing those interests, that Starbucks'

"one button restriction" was "a necessary and appropriate means of protecting

its legitimate managerial interest in displaying a particular public image." Id.

This Court similarly employed a straightforward balancing test in Mid-

state Telephone, weighing the emp10yer's "legitimate interest" in

"maintain[ing] discipline" against the employees' interest "in promoting union

solidarity." 706 F.2d at 403-04. Specifically, the Court considered "all" of the

relevant facts and circumstances-including the nature of the message on the

employees' t-shirts, the public-facing nature of the employees' jobs, and the
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company non-anti-union history-to determine which interest carried more

weight. Id. at 404. And in doing so, as in Starbucks, the Court never suggested

that the employer must also prove that its actions were "narrowly tailored" to

address its legitimate business justification. Id.

2. The narrow tailoring requirement adopted by the Board, however,

fundamentally alters this balancing test by giving almost dispositive weight to

the employees' side of the scale. Under the Board's test, even if the employer

demonstrates special circumstances for imposing a dress-code policy, that pol-

icy is still unlawful unless the employer "also" demonstrates "that the

limitation is narrowly tailored to the circumstances that justify the mainte-

nance of its policy." SPA4.

That requirement, effectively borrowed from the familiar "strict scru-

tiny standard," fundamentally contradicts the purpose of a balancing test.

Tesla, Inc., 371 NLRB No. 131, slip. op at 27 n.46 (Ring, M., dissenting). A

true balancing test, by definition, requires weighing competing interests

against each other, with neither interest automatically prevailing. See Tesla,

86 F.4th at 652. Under the Board's test, by contrast, the employee's interest

receives virtually dispositive weight, while the employer bears the exacting

burden of proving that nothing about its business practices or policies could be
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construed-by the Board and its lawyers-as somehow undermining the em-

p10yer's stated interest. See Kwong 7). Eloomberg, 723 F.3d 160, 175 (2d Cir.

2013) (Walker, J., concurring) (it is the "rare situation[] where strict scrutiny

would not be fatal in fact").

In that sense, the Board's rule effectively saddles the employer with the

burden of proving that it did not violate the law-even though the Board's

General Counsel "of course" "carries the burden of proving the elements of an

unfair labor practice." DHL Empress, Inc. 7). NLRB,813 F.3d 365, 379 (D.C.

Cir. 2016),see NLRB 1). Ky. River City. Care, Inc., 532 U.S. 706, 712 (2001).

The ALJ's reasoning here (adopted by the Board) amply demonstrates

why the Board's narrow tailoring inquiry proves "nearly insurmountable" for

employers. Tesla, Inc., 371 NLRB No. 131, slip. op at 26 (Kaplan & Ring,

MM., dissenting). Although the ALJ briefly acknowledged that the Roastery's

"steampunk, hipster" dress code was "meant to harmonize and mesh with the

appearance of the Roastery itself," the ALJ pivoted to a granular critique of

that dress code to determine whether it was "narrowly tailored" to that pur-

pose. SPAl'7. The ALJ concluded that, because Starbucks' partners were

allowed to wear "Roastery t-shirts and sweatshirts as well as PaI°tner-Net-

work t-shirts," the "force" of Starbucks' "special circumstances argument"

50



Case: 24-3168, 04/15/2025, DktEntry: 58.1, Page 57 of 99

was fatally undermined. SPAl'7. Similarly, the ALJ concluded that the pin

policy failed the narrow-tailoring test because partners were allowed to wear

"BLM and Starbucks partner-network pins and buttons." SPA18.

Accordingly, under the Board's decision here, employers like Starbucks

must prove not only that their overall, neutral dress code serves legitimate

business purposes, but also that every aspect of that dress code is perfectly

consistent with its rationale as the Board understands it. Such intrusive scru-

tiny upends the Board's role to "strike the proper balance" between employer

and employee interests, Fleetwood Trailer, 389 U.S. at 378, and transforms

the Board and its ALJs into "fashion" critiques and business consultants-

roles for which they lack both the expertise and authority. See Boca Imports,

Inc. 7). NLRB, 826 F.3d 558, 58'7 (1st Cir. 2016) (Stahl, J. dissenting); red co

Health Sols. olLas Vegas, Inc. 'U. NLRB, 701 F.3d 710, 717 (D.C. Cir. 2012)

(the Board's "expertise is surely not at its peak in the realm of employer-cus

omar relations"). This Court should reject this doctrinal innovation and

reaffirm that the proper approach remains a genuine balancing of competing

interests .

51



Case: 24-3168, 04/15/2025, DktEntry: 58.1, Page 58 of 99

C. The Board's Application of Tesla Overstepped Its Statutory
Authority and Violated the First Amendment

By treating all dress codes as presumptively unlawful under the

fLoRA-which led the Board to order Starbucks to rescind its button and shirt

policies-the Board far overstepped its congressionally granted authority and

ran roughshod over the First Amendment.

1. The Board exceeded its statutory authority

a. "It is well settled that an agency may only act within the authority

granted to it by statute," Nat. Res. Def Council 7). Nat? Highway Traffic

Safety Admin.,894 F.3d 95, 108 (2d Cir. 2018), as an agency "literally has no

power to act" unless "Congress authorizes it to do so." FEC 'U. Cruz, 596 U.S.

289, 301 (2022) (citation omitted). That requirement applies whether an

agency adopts regulations through notice-and-comment Rulemaking or, like

the NLRB, resolves disputes through adjudication. See Allentown Mack

Sales & Sew., Inc. 7). NLRB, 522 U.S. 359, 374 (1998),Pedersen 7). NLRB, 234

F.2d 417, 419 (2d Cir. 1956).

The NLRB derives its authority from the NLRA, which Congress en-

acted in 1935 to "encourage] the practice and procedure of collective

bargaining" between labor and management to resolve "industrial disputes

arising out of differences as to wages, hours, or other working conditions." 29
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U.S.C. § 151. The NLRA does not give employees an unfettered right to do or

say whatever they please while on the job. Instead, the statute narrowly pro-

tects employees' rights to work "to improve [their] terms and conditions of

employment or otherwise improve their lot as employees." Easter, Inc. 7).

NLRB, 437 U.S. 556, 565 (1978). Specifically, Section '7 of the NLRA protects

employees' rights to (1) form "labor organizations," (2) "bargain collectively,77

and (3) engage in "other concerted activities" "for the purpose of collective

bargaining or other mutual aid or protection." 29 U.S.C. l5'7.§

To prove that employees' activity is for the purpose of mutual protection,

the General Counsel must demonstrate "a nexus between [the employees'] ac-

tivity and employees interests as employees." Venetian Casino Reset, L.L. C.

7). NLRB, 484 F.3d 601, 606 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (internal quotations omitted).

That demands more than an "attenuated" connection to workplace issues. Id.

Section '7's explicit protection of employees' right to form "labor organizations"

and "bargain collectively" informs the meaning-and limits the reach-of the

provision's catchall phrase "mutual aid or protection." 29 U.S.C. § 157, see

Epic Sys., 584 U.S. at 512. To be protected, such activity must be "directly

related' to working conditions." Guideline Mem. Concerning Unfair Labor

Practice Charges Involving Political Advocacy, Mem. No. GC 08-10, 2008 WL

53



Case: 24-3168, 04/15/2025, DktEntry: 58.1, Page 60 of 99

6708138, at *3 (N.L.R.B. G.C. July 22, 2008) (quoting Motorola, Inc., 305

NLRB 580, 580 n.l (Nov. 12, l99l)). There must be "a direct nexus between

the specific issue that is the subject of the advocacy and a specifically identified

employment concern." Id. (emphasis added).

b. The Board stretched Section '7 beyond its statutory moorings byfa-

cally invalidating Starbucks' neutral prohibition on "political, religious, or

personal" pins, without any evidence of how Starbucks has applied this provi-

sign. SPA5; SPAl8. So too, the Board exceeded its Section '7 authority by

completely invalidating the prohibition on shirts with logos, writings, or de-

signs-even if the logo, writing, or design has no nexus to a specific

employment concern. SPA5, SPA17.

As just discussed, the Board's authority is limited to protecting the

rights conferred in 29 U.S.C. § 157. It has no authority outside this realm. The

Board has no authority to compel employers to allow their employees to con-

vey "political," "religious," or "personal" messages that have no connection to

workplace issues. Surely, Starbucks can prevent its employees from offending

customers with pins or t-shirts advocating hot-button political or religious

messages. Starbucks customers do not visit the Roastery to be confronted

with messages about abortion or the presidential election. So too, to present
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a uniform image at the Roastery, Starbucks must be permitted to prevent its

employees from wearing shirts with large, distracting logos of competitors-

like "Coca-Cola" or "Durkin' Donuts." Yet the Board facially invalidated these

policies.

To justify invalidating the pin policy, the Board improperly invoked a

single hypothetical example-a "Fight for 9515" pin-to conclude that Star-

bucks' policy theoretically could violate Section 7. SPA18. But, in using this

single hypothetical example to invalidate the entire prohibition, the Board did

not SO much as mention the mine run of pins and buttons that express political,

religious, or personal views unrelated to employment conditions. This expan-

sive reading transforms Section '7 from a provision protecting labor-related

expression into a general right to political expression while at work, regardless

of its connection to employment conditions-a reading far beyond what Con-

gross authorized. See O & Pro. Emfs. In? Union, 7). NLRB, 981 F.2d 76,

82 (2d Cir. 1992) ("the Board may not broaden Section '7 to protect activities

which have no bearing on the employment relationship").

The Board's Order creates an unworkable standard that would effec-

lively nullify employers' ability to prohibit political or religious expression in

the workplace. By invalidating Starbucks' policy based on a single
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hypothetical application-the "Fight for 3315" button- the Board impermissi-

bly shifted the burden to employers to prove that every hypothetical political,

religious, or personal message lacks sufficient nexus to workplace conditions.

This approach inverts the statutory framework established by Congress,

which requires the General Counsel to demonstrate a direct "nexus" to em-

ployment concerns. Venetian Casino Resort, 484 F.3d at 606.

Finally, the Board's indiscriminate approach inverts the usual test for

determining whether a law or regulation is facially invalid. In most constitu-

tonal cases, "a plaintiff cannot succeed on a facial challenge unless he

establishes that no set of circumstances exists under which the law would be

valid, or he shows that the law lacks a plainly legitimate sweep." Moody 7).

Net Clzoz°ce, LLC, 603 U.S. 707, 723 (2024) (cleaned up). And even under the

"less demanding though still rigorous standard" applied in First Amendment

cases, a plaintiff must prove that "a substantial number of the law's applica-

sons are unconstitutional, judged in relation to the statute's plainly legitimate

sweep." Id. (cleaned up). That high bar exists in part, the Supreme Court has

explained, because "[c]laims of facial invalidity often rest on speculation about

the law's coverage and its future enforcement." Id. (internal quotations omit-

red).
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Under the Board's approach, however, the Board is encouraged to spec-

ulate away. Under the decision below, a facially neutral dress-code rule is

presumptively unlawful, SO long as one could imagine a single hypothetical

8cenaido in which that rule's application might infringe on an emp10yee's Sec-

son '7 rights. Suffice it to say that this sweeping assertion of authority-which

turns the ordinary inquiry for facial challenges upside down-is yet another

reason to conclude the Board "went well beyond the bounds of its statutory

authority." Util. AW Regal. GWEN. 7). EPA, 573 U.S. 302, 326 (2014) (internal

quotations omitted).

2.

The Board's Order also violates the First Amendment. Starbucks has

The Board's order violates the First Amendment.

decided that the pins and shirts employees wear at work should not communi-

Cate views, including religious and political views, at odds with the atmosphere

Starbucks wishes to cultivate at the Roastery. The First Amendment fully

protects that expressive judgment. This Court should either reject the

Board's assertion of authority on constitutional avoidance grounds or uphold

Starbucks' First Amendment defense on the merits. See, e.g., Edward J. De-

Ewftolo C0491'U. Fla. Gulf Coast Bldg. & Constqfz Trades Council, 485 U.S. 568,

575-78 (1988).
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a. The First Amendment provides that "Congress shall make no law

abridge the freedom of speech." U.S. Const. amend. I. That freedom en-

compasses "the decision of both what to say and what not to say." Riley 7).

Nat'l Fed'n of the Blind ofN.C., Inc., 487 U.S. 781, 796-97 (1988). The govern-

rent thus cannot "compel a person to speak its message when he would prefer

to remain silent" or "force an individual to include other ideas with his own

speech that he would prefer not to include." 303 Creative LLC 7). Elefrzis, 600

U.S. 570, 586 (2028).

The Board's order forcing Starbucks to allow partners to wear "political,

religious or personal" insignia and any and all "logos, writings, or designs"

violates the First Amendment. At the most basic level, the Board's Order has

infringed Starbucks' constitutionally protected "autonomy to choose the con-

tent of [its] own message." Hurley7). Ivdsh-Am. Gay, Lesbian & Eiseacual GMO.

of8os., 515 U.S. 557, 573 (1995). That is because messages that partners dis-

play during work are Starbucks' speech. And even if those messages could be

characterized as both Starbucks' speech and its partners' speech, the Board's

Order still violates the First Amendment.

b. Any message that a Roastery partner wishes to display on his or her

uniform-while interacting with the Roastery's customers on Starbucks'
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behalf-is Starbucks' speech. And the government cannot force Starbucks to

communicate messages it does not wish to express.

As the Supreme Court has made clear, "[w]hen an employee engages in

speech that is part of the employee's job duties, the employee's words are re-

ally the words of the employer." Janus 'U. Am. Fed'n of State, City., & Mun.

Emfs., Council 31, 585 U.S. 8'78, 910 (2018). Here, for example, the Board's

order forces Starbucks to allow partners to wear any manner of "political, re-

ligious, or personal" insignia during working hours while serving the

Roastery's customers on Starbucks' behalf. Under Janus, however, partners

act as Starbucks' "spokesperson[s]"-and any political, religious, or personal

advocacy message becomes Starbucks'. Id.

Further, Starbucks' dress-code policy reflects its expressive choices

about "what to say and what not to say." Riley, 487 U.S. at 796-97. Starbucks

permits certain partner-worn pins while prohibiting political, religious, or di-

visive content. The First Amendment protects these choices. Further,

Starbucks has compelling justifications for this policy: building a consistent

brand image, maintaining focus on the premium Roastery experience, and pre-

venting customer or employee conflicts. See Starbucks, 679 F.3d at 78. By

ordering Starbucks to permit advocacy pins and shirts of its partners
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choosing, the Board compels Starbucks to express political, religious, or per-

sonal messages through its partners. This "direct regulation" of speech

"plainly violate[s] the First Amendment." Agency for In? Dev. 7). All. for

Open Soc'y Intl, Inc., 5'70 U.S. 205, 213 (2013).

C. It does not matter, moreover, that a partner's decision to wear a pin

or shirt may also reflect their speech, rather than Starbucks' speech. Forcing

Starbucks to permit that display unconstitutionally distorts Starbucks' speech

by changing the message its partners communicate to the public on Starbucks'

behalf. Starbucks has a First Amendment right to control its chosen message.

See Janus, 585 U.S. at 892. Starbucks exercises that right by regulating the

messages communicated by its employees during working time. Starbucks

chooses to allow one kind of ostensibly personalized message-namely, BLM

pins or buttons-but only because Starbucks has concluded that this particu-

law message reinforces the company's own expression. See supra p. 33-34. The

Board had no constitutional power to amend Starbucks' carefully crafted mes-

sage by compelling Starbucks to allow an unlimited range of pins and shirts

with other messages. SPA18.

The Supreme Court's decision in Hurley is instructive. There, the Su-

preme Court held that the First Amendment protected parade organizers'
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right to exclude a gay-rights group from participating in their parade. 515

U.S. at 572-81. "Since every participating unit affects the message conveyed

by the p[arade] organizers," the Court reasoned, forcing the organizers to per-

mit the group's "banner" would "essentially require]" them to "alter the

expressive content of their parade," in violation of the First Amendment. Id.

at 572-73. The Court recognized that the gay-rights group "understandably

s[ought] to communicate its [own] ideas as part of the existing parade," but

that made no difference. Id. at 570. The organizers had chosen "not to pro-

pound a particular point of view, and that choice" was "beyond the

government's power to control." Id. at 575. Starbucks has made the same

kind of expressive choice and is thus entitled to the same constitutional pro-

lection.

d. Even if the "political, religious, or personal" pin displays qualify ex-

elusively as employee speech, the Board's order nonetheless violates the First

Amendment. Wooled 7). Maynard, 430 U.S. 705 (1977), makes that clear.

There, the Supreme Court held that the First Amendment barred New Hamp-

shire from requiring drivers to display license plates emblazoned with "Live

Free or Die." Id. at 707, 713. It explained that the government may not com-

mand a person "to participate in the dissemination of an ideological message
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by displaying it on his private property in a manner and for the express pur-

pose that it be observed and read by the public." Id. at 713. Under Wooled,

therefore, people may not be forced to "use their private property as a 'mobile

billboard' for" someone else's "ideological message." Id. at 715.

Similarly, in Pacic Gas &: Electric Co. in. Public Utilities Commission

of California, the Court held that a California agency violated the First

Amendment by requiring a private utility company to include a third party's

newsletter criticizing the company in the company's billing envelope. 475 U.S.

1, 12-15 (1986). Doing so, the Court explained, impermissibly forced the com-

party to "assist in disseminating" someone else's speech. Id. at 15.

The Board has no more power to conscript Starbucks into broadcasting

others' "ideological message." Starbucks' distinctive Roastery uniforms are

designed to advertise for Starbucks and the unique nature of the Roastery

experience-not for the range of political, religious, or personal messages the

Board would require it to permit. SPA18.

The fact that Starbucks voluntarily chooses to allow BLM pins-while

maintaining its prohibition on other political, religious, or personal advocacy

pins-only underscores its First Amendment right to control what messages

it associates with its brand. The Board cannot constitutionally strip Starbucks
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of its editorial discretion by compelling it to display all messages simply be-

cause it chose to permit one. The First Amendment fully protects Starbucks'

right to make such distinctions.

III. Starbucks Established Special Circumstances for Its Dress-Code
Policy That Outweigh Any Adverse Effect on Employees' Rights

Although it was error for the Board to demand special circumstances

here, Starbucks proved special circumstances in any event. Even when em-

ployees are restricted in communicating their message through one medium,

courts consider employees' alternative opportunities to communicate within

the special-circumstances analysis. Yet, with respect to the prohibition on "po-

critical, religious, or personal" pins, the Board gave that consideration no

weight at all. SPAl8. And, with respect to the prohibition on shirts with

"logos, writings, or designs," the Board turned that consideration upside

down, holding that the one-pin policy cut against Starbucks' other policy pro-

hibiting shirts with "logos, writings, or designs." SPA17. Further, by focusing

exclusively on whether the dress-code rule was narrowly tailored, the Board

also failed to consider other relevant factors required by this Court's prece-

dent, further demonstrating that it applied the special circumstances test "in

an unreasonable way." S. New England Tel. Co., 793 F.3d at 96.
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l. First, the Board and ALJ gave no weight to the critical fact that the

Roastery's partners may still express support for a union by wearing one pro-

union pin or button on their shirt or apron. In fact, with respect to the prohi-

bison on shirts with "logos, writings, or designs," the Board and ALJ

reasoned-incredibly-that this factor cut the other way, invalidating that re-

striction in part because Starbucks "already allows its NYC Roastery

employees to wear one reasonably sized pin or button on their aprons that

shows support for a labor organization." SPA17.

That reasoning flips the relevant inquiry on its head. On that view, once

an employer reasonably accommodates employee speech by allowing a pro-

union pin, it must then allow any and all manner of pro-union expression. As

numerous courts have recognized, an employee's alternative means of expres-

sign weighs in the employeri8 favor when courts are balancing employee and

employer rights within the special-circumstances inquiry. See E. Omni Con-

st'r'ucto4f's, Inc. 7). NLRB, 1'70 F.3d 418, 426 (4th Cir. 1999) (collecting cases).

For that reason, in Starbucks, this Court rejected the Board's specia1-circum-

stances argument in part because Starbucks "adequately maintain[ed] the

opportunity to display pro-union sentiment by permitting one, but only one,

union button on workplace clothing." Starbucks, 679 F.3d '78,
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That makes sense. The incremental communicative value added by each

additional item of union clothing declines, while the adverse impact on the em-

p10yer's effort to cultivate its public image and protect against "dilution" of its

own messages to customers increases. Starbucks,679 F.3d at 78. The Board's

task, therefore, was to explain why the law mandates that employees dealing

directly with customers be allowed to repeat their support for the Union again

and again and again across their employer-issued uniforms. But the Board

made no effort to do that, simply assuming that more union apparel must be

better and hence that more union apparel must be the law. That void in the

Board's analysis constitutes reversible legal error because the "extensiveness

of a particular ban [is] one factor in assessing its reasonableness." District

Lodge 91, 814 F.2d at 882.

2. Second, contrary to this Court's direction, the Board ignored that the

limitation on wearing union apparel is imposed only on employees who have

"regular contact with the public while at work." Mid8tate Tel., 706 F.2d at 404.

For such employees, the employer's interest in controlling the public image

they present and the messages communicated to customers on uniforms is par-

ticularly acute. See id. Those employees are the emp10yer's face to the

purchasing public, and they have a singular influence on the business's
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operation, retail environment, and the development of customer goodwill. See

NLRB 'U. Haw'ah/8 Club,337 F.2d 177, 180 (9th Cir. 1964). That is particularly

true for the Roastery's partners, who are the "cast of characters" that deliver

"the magic that the Roastery provides." JA239.

3. Third, the Board and ALJ overstated the employees' interest, con-

trary to precedent. Nothing in the record suggests that the partners who wore

Workers United t-shirts were engaged in any core union organizing or bar-

gaining activity, such as a strike or representative election. Thus, as this Court

explained in Mfid8tate Telephone, the employees' expressive interest was "ill-

defined" and should weigh less in the balance of interests. 706 F.2d at 404, see

also Pay/N Save Corp. 7).NLRB, 641 F.2d 697, 701 n.10 (9th Cir. 1981) (noting

the "weak employee interest in wearing union insignia in the absence of any

organizing or collective bargaining activity"), Hawalv/s, 337 F.2d at 178-179

(wearing of union pins merits less protection when it"was not part of any con-

cerated campaign to organize the employees" or exercise of other rights

protected by the Act).

4. Fourth, with respect to the prohibition on shirts with "logos, writings,

or designs," the Board ignored that the two "exceptions" to the prohibition

were Starbucks-issued shirts relating to Starbucks business. See SPAl'7
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("Respondent's dress-code exceptions include Starbucks Roastery t-shirts and

sweatshirts as well as Partner Network shirts"). Those shirts, by design, gen-

elated precisely the employee image that Starbucks sought to maintain. The

same cannot be said, however, for whatever shirts or pins (including union

shirts) the Roastery partners may choose to wear instead. And that failure to

distinguish between employer-issued shirts and employee-selected shirts was

error and contrary to the Board's own precedent. See W San Diego, 348

NLRB 372, 373 (2006) (distinguishing between cases in which employer allows

uniform adornments unrelated to employer's business, and cases in which em-

player allows only company issued adornments related to business).

* * *

In short, the Board should deny enforcement of the Board's order and

hold that Starbucks' restriction on union T-shirts, and on "political, religious,

or personal" pins, at the NYC Roastery was justified by special circumstances

and did not violate Section 8(a)(1). The Board's imposition of a "narrow tailor-

ing" requirement contradicts this Circuit's established precedent, improperly

second-guesses legitimate business judgments, and fails to give proper weight

to Starbucks' reasonable accommodation of Section '7 rights.
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It necessarily follows, moreover, that this Court also should deny en-

forcement of the Board's fourth and fifth unfair labor practice findings. These

derivative violations-for ordering partners to remove their union t-shirts and

threatening to discipline them if they did not-depend entirely on the incor-

sect premise that Starbucks lacked special circumstances justifying its dress

code. As this Court has already recognized, once a dress code restriction is

justified by special circumstances, the company can lawfully maintain and en-

force that restriction as "a necessary and appropriate means of protecting its

legitimate managerial interest." Starbucks,679 F.3d at 78.
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CONCLUSION

Starbucks' petition for review should be granted, and the Board's cross-

application for enforcement should be denied.
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Siren Retail Corporation d/b/a Starbucks Reserve
Roastery and Workers United, affiliated with
Service Employees International Union. Case02-
CA-305984

November 27, 2024

DECISION AND ORDER

maintaining a policy that prohibits employees from wear-
ing pins or buttons that advocate for a political. religious,
or personal issue," and by maintaining and enforcing a pol-
icy that prohibits employees from wearing shirts or tops
that have logos, writings, or designs.5 We also adopt the
judge's findings that the Respondent violated Section
8(a)( l) by instructing several employees to remove their
union T-shirts and by threatening one employee with dis-
cipline if she did not remove her union T-shirt.°

However, for the reasons stated below, we reverse the
judge's dismissal of the allegation that the Respondent's
policy prohibiting employees from wearing more than one
union button or pin violated Section 8(a)(l). The judge
found that the General Counsel was "collaterally es-
topped" from challenging the single-pin policy by a 2012
Second Circuit decision permitting such a ban at several
Starbucks neighborhood stores. We find that collateral es-
toppel ("issue preclusion" in modem parlance) does not
apply and that the single-pin policy violated the Act.

FACTS

As set forth more fully in the judge's decision, the four-
floor, 23,000-square-foot Starbucks Roastery at 61 9th
Avenue in Manhattan is one of only three such Roasteries
in the United States and is quite distinct from the 13,000
neighborhood stores. Starbucks intends the Roastery to
provide an immersive experience in the "Willy Wonka"-
like world of making coffee. The "vibe" is intended to be
"steampunk417 and "hipster chic." There is a coffee roast-
ing operation on site, several bars, and a retail section that
sells a variety of Starbucks and Roastery-branded clothing
and other merchandise. The average customer spends 45

By CHAIRMAN MCFERRAN AND MEMBERS Paoury
AND WILCOX

On December 6, 2023. Administrative Law Judge Mi-
chael P. Silverstein issued the attached decision, and on
January 2, 2024, he issued an errata, The Respondent filed
exceptions and a supporting brief, and the General Coun-
sel filed an answering brief In addition, the General
Counsel filed limited exceptions and a supporting brief,
the Respondent filed an answering brief, and the General
Counsel filed a reply brief The Charging Party also filed
cross-exceptions and a supporting briefs

The National Labor Relations Board has delegated its
authority in this proceeding to a three-member paneL!

The Board has considered the decision and the record in
light of the exceptions and the briefs and has decided to
affirm the judge's rulings, findings," and conclusions only
to the extent consistent with this Decision and Order.;

This case concerns the Respondent's dress code at its
Starbucks Reserve Roastery in New York City. For the
reasons stated by the judge, we adopt his findings that the
Respondent violated Section 8(a)( l) of the Act by

The Respondent asserts that Members Prouty and Wilcox should
recuse themsclva. claiming that there is a "conflict of interest arising
from their past. present. and perceived relationships with the Service Em-
ployees Intemalional Union." Members Prouty and Wilcox have detcr~
mined. in consultation with the NLRB Designated Agency Ethics Off
cal, that there is no basis to recuse themselves from the adjudication of
this case.

1 The Respondent has implicitly excepted to some ofthejudge's ered-
ibility findings. The Board's established policy is not to overrule an ad-
ministrative law judge's credibility resolutions unless the clear prepon-
deiancc ofall the relevant evidence convinces us that they are incorrect.
Siandand D'i*'Wall Products. 91 NLRB 544 (1950), cnfd. ISS F.2d 362
(3d Cir. l95l).

' We have amended the judge's conclusions of law consistent with
our findings herein. We shall modify the judge's recommended Order
to require the Respondent to rescind the dress code rule at its New York
City Roastery prohibiting employees from wearing more than one union
pin or button, to conform to our findings herein and to the Board'ssland-
and remedial language, and in accordance with our decision in Paragon
Systems. he' , 371 NLRB No. 104 (2022). We shall also substitute a new
notice to conform to the Order as modified

' The Respondent excepted to thcjudgels finding that this policy was
unlawful, but it does not state, other in its exceptions or in its supporting
brieil any grounds on which this purportedly erroneous finding should

I be reversed. Theneforc. in accondanee with Sec. l02.46(aX I1(ii) of the
Board's Rules and Regulations. we shall disregard this exception. See
Halsum de Puerto Rico, Inc.. 344 NLRB 694, 694 in. I (2005). cnfd. 456
F.3d 265 ( Isl Cir. 2006). Moreover. even if the Respondent had Gled
properly supported exceptions, we would adopt the judge's finding for
the reasons stated in his dwision.

5 In adopting the judge's finding that the Rcspondcntls "no logos or
writings" policy violated Sec. 8(uX I L we note that the judge inadvert-
ently merged his treatment of this issue into his discussion of the larger
issue ofwhether the Respondent violated Sec. 8(a)(l ) in forcing employ-
ees to remove their union T-shirts. Although the judge referred to the
"no logos or writings" policy in his conclusions of law. he inadvertently
omitted any specific mention of the policy in the Order and notice. We
have modified the Order and notice to correct this error.

' The Respondent filed bare exceptions to the judge's finding ofttn
unlawful threat which we shall disregard in accordance with See.
I02,46(a)( l Mii) of the Board's Rules and Regulations. See HuLvum de
Puerto Rim, In., supra. Furrhennore, even if the Respondent had tiled
properly supported exceptions, we would adopt the judge's finding for
the reasons stated in his decision.

7 "Steampunk" is defined in Merriam-Webster's dictionary as "sei-
cnec fiction dealing with 19th-century societies dominated by historical
or imagined steam-powered technology." See https://www.merriam-
webster.r:om/dictionary/steamptmk (last visited November 5. 2024).

373 NLRB No. 140
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minutes at the Roastcry, compared with just 3 VI minutes
at a neighborhood store.

The Roastery's design team consulted on the dress code
xo ensure that it aligns with the Roastery's overall aes-
thetic. The specifics of the dress code are as follows: Part-
nerss are to wear dark blue or black jeans with cuffs rolled
up. Tops are a button-down shirt with a collar or a turtle-
neck, The tops must be solid colored or a "small, simple
pattern or print." in a color palette of "muted color tones
of red. orange. yellow, green, blue, brown, purple. black,
brown and white," and can be wom tucked or untucked.°
They "may have a small manufacturer's logo, but may
have no other designs, logos or writings."

Additional tops that may be wom, which are exceptions
to the color palette and "no logo" rules, are "Siren
Roastery Merch Shirts, Sweatshirts or Partner Network
shirts" on top of the collared shin or turtleneck. There are
10 to 12 partner networks that are designed to create com-
munity within the company. For instance, there are net-
works for partners "who identify as Hispanic. Veterans
... , African-American, and Pan-Asian." The partner net-
work shirts are usually black or dark green-but occasion-
ally blue or brown. They have a small logo on the upper
left front for the particular network, and a small message
on the back such as "Hora del Café" (Coffee Time) for the
Hispanic partner network. The designs for the partner net-
work shirts change every year.

Regardless of the top wom, permitted accessories in-
clude "Fun dress socks, handkerchiefs, ties. bowties. Ap-
proved Hat [l`lat, fedora, panama, trilby, beret] in Black,
White, Gray, Brown, Khaki, or Beige." Finally, partners
wear brownish-green Starbucks aprons over their other
clothing,

As to buttons and pins. the Respondents policy provides
that:

Partners may only wear buttons or pins issued lo the
partner by Starbucks for special recognition or for adver-

tising a Starbucks-sponsored event or promotion, Star-
bucks approved pins representing a partner network and
one reasonably sized and placed button or pin that iden-

tifies a particular labor organization or a partner's sup-

port for that organization, except if it interferes with
safety or threatens to harm customer relations or other-
wise unreasonably interferes with Starbucks [sic] public

image . . . .

BLM pins are allowed by Starbucks.

Partners are not permitted to wear buttons or pins that
advocate a political. religious or personal issue ....

The complaint alleges, in relevant part, that the Re-
spondent violated Section 8(a)( l) by maintaining the sin-
gle-pin policy at its New York City Roastery. The judge
dismissed the allegation, finding that the General Counsel
was "collaterally stopped" from challenging the policy
by litigation that culminated in a 2012 Second Circuit dc-
cision. See NLRB v. Starbucks Corp.. 679 F.3d 70 (2d Cir.
20I2).

In 2006, Starbucks entered into an informal settlement
with the Board to resolve allegations stemming from a
charge filed by the Industrial Workers of the World
(IWW), which alleged that Starbucks refused to allow em-
ployees to wear union pins and buttons at several New
York City neighborhood stores that the Union was at-
tempting to organize. Starbucks Co_0lee Co., 354 NLRB
876 (2009), affirmed and incorporated by reference 355
NLRB 636 (20l0). The agreement resulted in Starbucks
adopting a policy that allowed Starbucks-sponsored pins
and "reasonably-sized and placed buttons or pins that
identify a particular labor organization or a partner's sup-
port for that organization .... " Starbucks interpreted its
obligation under this provision as limited to allowing a
partner to wear a single union pin or button.

The lWW challenged this single-pin policy. The judge
found that the policy was unlawful because Starbucks had
failed to show special circumstances justifying this limita-
tion on employees' general right to wear union insignia at
work. See Republic Aviation Corp. v. NLR8, 324 U.S.
793, 801-803 & fn. 7 (l945) (setting forth this right and
the special circumstances exception). The Board adopted
the judge's finding. See Starbucks Cooke Co.,supra.

On review, the Second Circuit denied enforcement and
found the single-pin policy to be lawful. NLRB v. Star-
bucks' Corp., 679 F.3d at 78. The court held that "[t]he
company adequately maintains the opportunity to display
prounion sentiment by permitting one, but only one, union
button on workplace clothing." ld. In its view, Starbucks
met its burden of establishing that the policy was a "nec-
essary and appropriate" means of maintaining its public
image, ld.

As noted, in this case, the judge found that under the
doctrine of "collateral estoppel" (issue preclusion), the
Second Circuit's decision barred the General Counsel
from challenging the single-pin policy maintained by the
Respondent at its New York City Roastery. In the judge's
view, "[t]he one-pin rule at issue before me is nearly

U The Roastery, like the rest of Starbucks, refers to its anployees as
"partners"

" In some pans of the record. the acceptable color pnlenc listed is
more limited. This appears to be because the palette was expanded at

some point. The Respondent does not except w the judge's finding re~
garding the contents of the color palette. nor does it dispute the judge's
description of the palette in ins bricti
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identical to the one-pin rule decided by the Second Circuit
.... " Thcjudge stated that:

Since it is the same prosecuting and responding parties
litigating nearly identical facts already litigated before
and determined by the Second Circuit, collateral estop-
pel principles compel the conclusion that the General
Counsel is foreclosed from seeking reconsideration of
the one-pin rule and must be bound by the Second Cir-
cuit's determination.

The General Counsel and the Union except, arguing that
issue preclusion does not apply because this case does not
involve the "same issue" as the earlier litigation involving
neighborhood stores. For the reasons set forth below, we
agree with the General Counsel and the Union that this
case does not involve the "same issue," and therefore we
reverse the judge's finding of issue preclusion.l°

ANALYSIS

A. Issue Preclusion

colors" of blue, green, red, orange, yellow, or purple. In a
similar vein, the ambience of the multilevel. 23.000-
square-foot Roastery with its many "distinctive design el-
ements" contrasts significantly with that of a basic neigh-
borhood store. The General Counsel asserts that these sig-
nificant differences between the Roastery and the stores
involved in the previous case render the application of is-
sue preclusion inappropriate.

The Charging Party, for its part, places strong reliance
on Commissioner Q/'Internal Revenue v. Sunken,333 U.S.
591. 599-600 (1948). for the principle that issue preclu-
sion applies only where the issue raised in the second pro-
ceeding is "identical in all respects with that decided in the
first proceeding and where the controlling facts and appli-
cable legal mies remain unchanged." Most pointedly, the
Union notes that the Respondent itself characterized the
Roastery as "one of the most magnificent, unique coffee
houses in the country," offering "an immersive sensory
coffee experiencefundamenralb- disrinctfrom the slam/-
ard Starbucks store." (emphasis added).

We agree with the General Counsel and Charging Party
that this case does not involve the "same issue" as the ear-
lier litigation involving the neighborhood stores. The
"same issue" requirement is met only where the facts in
the two proceedings are "virtually identical." See Smugger
Chemical, supra at 173. A.s evident from the judge's de-
cision, the facts in this case differ significantly from those
in the 2012 decision that the judge found preclusive. The
earlier case involved neighborhood Starbucks stores
where the employees were restricted to wearing black or
white tops and black, while, or khaki bottoms in order to
present a "clean, neat, and professional appearance." Star-
bucks, 679 F.3d at 72. Here, by contrast, employees may
wear shirts with a simple pattern or print as well as solid
colors "with an expanded color palette that includes or-
ange. purple, red, yellow, brown, and khaki." They may
also wear Siren Retail "merch" and "partner network" T-
shirts in a dozen varieties; flat. fedora. Panama. and Trilby
hats in six approved colors, and accessories such as "fun
socks." handkerchiefs, ties, and bowties. The whole point
is to be "hip and trendy" and present a "steampunk, hip-
ster" vibe. The issue of whether Starbucks had proven
special circumstances to justify its one-pin limitation in
the neighborhood stores is clearly not the "same issue" as
whether the Respondent can show special circumstances

Under the doctrine oflcollateral estoppel. now generally
referred to as "issue preclusion," "[w]hen an issue of fact
or law is actually litigated and determined by a valid and
final judgment, the determination is conclusive in a sub-
sequent action between the parties .... " Restatement
(Second) of Judgments § 27 (1977); see generally Mon-
tana v. United States, 440 U.S. 147, 153 (I979), Parklane
Hosiery Co. v. Shore, 439 U.S. 322. 326 fn. 5 ( I979). Is-
sue preclusion is properly applied in a proceeding involv-
ing a governmental entity such as the Board "where the
government is litigating the same issue arising under vir-
tually identical facts against the same party" in a subse-
quent proceeding. United States v. Starter Chemical Co.,
464 U.S. 165, 173 (l984)."

The General Counsel excepts to the judge's application
of issue preclusion on the grounds that the "same issue" is
not at play. She argues that the determination of whether
"special circumstances"justifying a one-pin limitation ex-
ist depends critically on both the overall contents of the
dress code and the overall context of the workplace. She
argues that the overall dress codes involved in the two
cases differ significantly. At the neighborhood Starbucks
involved in the earlier case, employees were required to
wear black or khaki bottoms and black or white tops. At
the Roastery, in contrast, employees could wear shirts not
only of black, white, grey, navy, and brown, but "muted

m In making the issue-pueclusiou finding. the judge lilied on a Com
of Appeals decision that ncverscd the Board. The Board has a policy of
nonncquiesence in adverse circuit court decisions, See Sunbelt Rentals,
Inv.. 372 NLRB No. 24. slip op. 17 fn, 40 (2022): D.L. Baker. Ina. 35 I
NLRB 515. 529 fn. 42 (2007). Despite the nonacquicsccncc policy. we
analyze this case under issue-pteclusion principle because thcjudge and
the parties treat the question here as one of issue preclusion. and because

ix is so clear (hal the 20lZ Second Circdl case and this case do not 'm-
volvc the "same issue."

" The judge did not discuss the question ofwhelher the Union. which
was not a party to the prior litigation. was also precluded &om raising
the issue. Given our finding that the case bcfom us does not involve the
"same issue" as in the earlier litigation. it is unnecasary for us to con»
side: this question.
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in the New York City Roastery. Therefore, we reverse the
judge's finding that issue preclusion applies to the single-
pin policy."

Because the judge found that issue preclusion barred the
General Counsel from arguing that the one-pin policy was
an unlawful restriction on Section 7 rights, he did not spe-
cifically address the question of whether special circum-
stances justified the one-pin policy. Having reversed the
judge's finding that issue preclusion applies. we next con-
sider this question.

8. 77ze Single-Pin Policy

Under Republic Aviation Cmp. v. NLRB, 324 U.S. at
801-803 & fn. 7, limitations on employees' ability to wear
union insignia in the workplace violate Section 8(a)( l) un-
less the employer proves that special circumstancesjustify
the limitation. One means of establishing special circum-
stances is to show that the display of the insignia at issue
would unreasonably interfere with a public image that the
employer has established through appearance mies or a
dress code. See Bock Honda, 362 NLRB 706, 707 (20 l 5),
end, sub nom, Both Imports, Inc. v. NLRB, 826 F.3d 558
( 1st Cir. 2016). To overcome the general right to wear
union insignia, the employer must not only demonstrate
special circumstances, but also that the limitation is nar-
rowly tailored to the circumstances thatjustily the mainte-
nance of its policy. Id. "To establish that protected insig-
nia interfere with an employer's public image, the em-
ployer must demonstrate a carefully cultivated public it
age that is so consistently preserved that the nonconform-
ing symbol, button, or other insignia would jeopardize the
image." Home Depot, USA, 373 NLRB No. 25, slip op. at
I l (2024) (citing cases). The Board considers the appear-
ance and message of the insignia to determine if it inter-
feres with the employer's desired public image. Grill Con~
cepts Services. 364 NLRB 385, 386-387 (2016). The re-
quirement that employees wear a uniform is not alone a
special circumstance. P.S.K. Supermarkets, 349 NLRB
34,34-35(20071

Although the Respondent does not directly address the
substance of the one-pin policy in its answering brief its

arguments there concerning issue preclusion as well as its
arguments in its exceptions brief regarding the ban on un-
ion T-shins speak to this issue, and make clear that its po-
sition is that the one~pin policy and dress code restrictions
arejustified because they are necessary to the maintenance
of the Roastery's public image. In support of its position,
the Respondent relies chiefly on WSan Diego, 348 NLRB
372 (2006).'3

In W San Diego, the respondent hotel promoted a
"Wonderland" experience where guests could fulfill their
"fantasies and desires" and get 'Whatever [they] want
whenever [they] want it." ld. at 372. In furtherance of
this Wonderland experience and a hip, chic. and trendy
look, employees were required to wear a professionally
designed all-black uniform, including a black T-shirt,
black pants. and a black apron. ld. at 372-373. The uni-
form had a half-inch silver "W" pin on the upper let chest.
Id. at 372. All other adornments were prohibited. ld. At
the W San Diego. employees were encouraged to "express
themselves" and "interact with guests on a personal level."
ld.

The Board held that in furtherance of the image the ho-
tel sought to project, it acted lawfully in prohibiting em-
ployees from wearing 2-inch square buttons - four times
the size of the "W" pins-with "JUSTICE NOW'
.lUSTlClA AHORA! H.E.R.E. LOCAL 30" written in
blue or red letters on a yellow background. ld. at 373.
Consistent with the requirement that any prohibitions on
union insignia be narrowly tailored as well as based on
special circumstances. the Board held that the ban was
lawful in public areas but not in nonpublic areas. ld. at
373-374.

As the General Counsel points out, however, the Board
hasmade clear that WSan Diego rested on "narrow factual
circumstances." See Bach Honda, supra at 707 fn. 6. She
argues that the Respondent cannot demonstrate special
circumstances where °'[b]y design, the dress code here al-
lows for broad variations in clothing and a large number
of varied buttons and pins with the aim of projecting a
'hipster` and 'trendy' brand identity."

II The judge discussed the case of Sabine Towing & Transportation
Co. nl length. We End this case readily distinguishable. In Sahine I, the
Fifth Circuit. reversing the Board, held that the employer acted latwtixlly
'm prohibiting nonemployec organizers from boarding its docked vessels
lo solicit its employees regarding the upcoming election 599 F.2d 663
(Sth Cir. 1979).denying enti to 205 NLRB423 (1973). In Suhine II. 263
NLRB 114 1 l982), organizers from the same union again sought access
to the employer's docked vessels. this time to communicate with em-
ployees regarding a rerun election. The employer again denied access,
and the union filed new charges. The Board dismissed the new allega-
tions on the ground that the General Counsel and the Union were collat-
erally estopped from relitigaling the access issue, finding that there had
been no material change in the tactual circumstances.

Here, unlike Sabine. there have been material changes in the factual
cireurristanccs: from standard neighborhood stores to aMWilly Wonka"-
like Roastery. and from employees who wear solely black. while. and
khaki lo employees who may wear a wide variety of colors and pattcms,
Starbucks "merch," partner network shirts in a dozen van'eties. and ML
fedora. Panama. and Trilby hats.

u In its exocptions brief the Respondent also relies on World Color
(USA) Carp., 369 NLRB No. 104 (2020), for the proposition that its dress
code. including the one-pin policy. is lawful because it allows employees
to wear that one pin and thereby express their union sentiment. We adopt
the judge's rejection of this argtuncnt for the reasons he states. Tesla.
Inc.,371 NLRB No. 131.slip op. at 10 (2022), cut denied 86 F.4th 640
(Sth Cir. 2023).
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We agree with the General Counsel that the Respondent
has not proven special circumstances justifying the one-
pin policy here.!' Specifically, the Respondent presented
no evidence on how employees wearing more than one un-
ion pin would interfere with the Respondent's public it
age. in this case, unlike W San Diego, the employees did
not wear one standard uniform. Nor was the color palette
by any means limited to black; permitted colors included
not only brown and white in addition to black, but "muted
colors" of blue, green, yellow, red. orange, and purple.
Added to the employees' permitted "look" was Starbucks
Roastery wear (including beanies) and cultural identity
shirts of 10 to 12 varieties in multiple colors. Adornments
were far from prohibited: employees could wear "fun
socks," bow ties, fedoras. and berets. Thus, there was no
single "look" that would be marred if some employees
chose to add another union pin. See Home Depot. USA,
supra at I I (finding that when employer did not require
employees to wear standardized aprons but instead en-
couraged employees to personalize them with designs in-
cluding LGBTQ Pride symbols. Pan-African flag colors,
holiday symbols, and sports insignia, its uniform public
image defense failed). Moreover, the Respondent pemiit-
ted employees to wear as many Starbucks and Starbucks'
partner network pinsI5 as they liked as well as Black Lives
Matter pins. Both the variety and number of pins belies
any argument by the Respondent that additional union
pins would conflict with its "steampunk" atmosphere or
public image. See In-N-Ou! Burger, Inc.. 365 NLRB47 l ,
471 81. 2. 478, 48] (20I7) (finding that employer's ap-
pearance code and customer experience argument did not
prove special circumstances justifying prohibiting em-
ployees from wearing unauthorized buttons and instruct~
ing an employee to remove his "Fight For $I5" button
when employer required employees to wear seasonal
Christmas buttons and a button seeking donations to a
nonprofit focused on preventing child abuse), end. 894
F.3d 707 (Sth Cir. 2018); AT&T, 362 NLRB 885. 888
(2015) (finding no public-image special circumstances
justifying prohibition on union buttons and stickers when
employees were permitted to wear a variety of other sim-
ilarly sized buttons and stickers), Meyer. Inc., 318 NLRB
50. 51 (1995) (finding no special circumstances when em-
ployer prohibited union pins but allowed holiday and
photo pins), enfd. 130 F.3d 1209 (6th Cir. 1997), Holladay
Park Hospital, 262 NLRB 278, 279 (1982) (finding no
special circumstances when employer prohibited wearing

yellow ribbons to support the union's position in bargain-
ing negotiations but permitted other types of union insig-
nia and permitted wearing ribbons in support of other
causes). We therefore find that the Respondent did not
show special circumstances that would justify the one-un-
ion-pin limitation.

Accordingly,we find that the Respondent violated Sec-
tion 8(a)( I) by maintaining a dress code policy that pro-
hibits employees from wearing more than one union pin
or button at its New York City Roastery.

AMENDED CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

l. The Respondent. Siren Retail Corp. d/b/a Starbucks
Reserve Roastery, is an employer within the meaning of
Section 2(2), (6), and (7) of the Act.

2. The Charging Party, Workers United, Affiliated with
Service Employees lntemational Union, is a labor organi-
zation within the meaning of Section 2(5) of the Act.

3. By engaging in the following conduct, the Respond-
ent has violated Section 8(a)( I) of the Act:

a. Maintaining a dress code policy that prohibits et
ployees from wearing more than one union pin or button.

b. Maintaining a dress code policy that prohibits em-
ployees from wearing pins or buttons that advocate for a
political, religious, or personal issue.

c. Maintaining and enforcing a dress code policy that
prohibits employees from wearing shirts or tops that have
logos, writings, or designs.

d. Ordering employees to remove their union T-shirts.
e. Threatening employees that they will be disciplined

if they refuse to remove their union T-shirts.

ORDER

The National Labor Relations Board orders that the Rc-
spondent. Siren Retail Corporation d/b/a Starbucks Re-
serve Roastery, New York, New York, its officers, agents,
successors. and assigns. shall

I. Cease and desist from
(a) Maintaining an overly broad policy that prohibits

employees li'om wearing more than one union pin or but-
ton.

(b) Maintaining an overly broad policy that prohibits
employees from wearing pins or buttons that advocate for
a political. religious, or personal issue.

(c) Maintaining and enforcing an overly broad policy
that prohibits employees from wearing shirts or tops that
have logos, writings, or designs.

(d) Ordering employees to remove their union T-shirts.

14 Further, we note that the Respondent did not even attempt to prove
that its limitation was narrowly tailored lo the special circumstances that
it argued justified the limitation.

is As the judge found and as noted ztbovc. employees were permitted
to wear t-shins, pins and buttons that promote the 10-12 Starbucks-

partner networks for partners who identify as, for example, Hispanic.
veterans (or serving in the armed forces), Pan-Asian. and Black or infri-
can-American.
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of a responsible official on a form provided by the Region
attesting to the steps that the Respondent has taken to com-
ply.

Dated, Washington. D.C. November 27. 2024

Lauren McFen~an, Chairman

David M. Prouty, Member

Gwynne A. Wilcox, Member

(SEAL) NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

APPEN D IX

Ncmcs To EMPLOYEES

POSTED BY ORDER OF THE

NATtONAL LAHQR RELANONS BQARD

An Agency of' the United States Government

The National Labor Relations Board has found that we vi-
olated Federal labor law and has ordered us to post and
obey this notice.

FEDERAL LAW GIVES YOU THE RIGHT TO

Form, join, or assist a union

Choose representatives xo bargain with us on your
behalf

Act together with other employees for your bene-
fit and protection

Choose not to engage in any of these protected activi-
ties.

(e) Threatening employees that they will be disciplined
if they do not remove their union T-shirts.

(l) In any like or related manner interfering with, re-
straining, or coercing employees in the exercise of the
rights guaranteed by Section 7 of the Act.

2. Take the following affirmative action necessary to
effectuate the policies of the Act.

(a) Rescind the rule that prohibits employees from
wearing more than one union pin or button.

(b) Rescind the rule that prohibits employees from
wearing pins or buttons that advocate for a political, reli-
gious, or personal issue.

(c) Rescind the rule that prohibits employees from
wearing shirts or tops that have logos, writings, or designs.

(d) Furnish employees with inserts for the current dress
code that II ) advise that the unlawful provisionshave been
rescinded, or (2) provide lawfully worded provisions on
adhesive backing that will cover the unlawful provisions;
or publish and distribute to employees revised dress codes
that (I) do not contain the unlawliil provisions, or (2) pro-
vide lawfully worded provisions.

(e) Post at its New York City Roastery facility copies
of the attached notice marked "Appendix."!" Copies of
the notice, on forms provided by the Regional Director for
Region 2. after being signed by the Respondent's author-
ized representative, shall be posted by the Respondent and
maintained for 60 consecutive days in conspicuous places,
including all places where notices to employees are cus-
tomarily posted. in addition to physical posting of paper
notices. notices shall be distributed electronically, such as
by email, posting on an intranet or an internet site, and/or
other electronic means, if the Respondent customarily
communicates with its employees by such means. The
Respondent shall take reasonable steps to ensure that the
notices are not altered, defaced, or covered by any other
material. If the Respondent has gone out of business or
closed the facility involved in these proceedings. the Re-
spondent shall duplicate and mail, at its own expense. a
copy of the notice to all current employees and f`ormer em-
ployees employed by the Respondent at any time since
September 19, 2022.

(D Within 21 days after service by the Region. tile with
the Regional Director for Region 2 a swam certification

WE WILL NOT maintain an overly broad policy that pre-
Vents our employees loom wearing more than one union
pin or button.

!" If the facility involved in lhcsc proceedings is open and staffed by
a substantial complement ofemployecs, the notice must be posted within
14 days after service by the Region, If the facility involved in these pm-
ceedings is closed or non staTed by a substantial complement ofcmploy-
ees due lo the Coronavims Disease20 IN (COVID-l91 pandemic, the no-
lice must be posted within 14 days rifler th: facilities reopen and u sub-
stantial complement of employees have remind to work. IR while
closed of not staffed by a substantial complement of employees due to
the pandemic, lhc Respondcni is communicating Willi its employees by
electronic means. the notice must also be posted by such clectmnie

means within 14 days utter service by the Region, If the notice to be
physically posted was posted electronically more than 60 days before
physical posting of the notice, the notice shall slate at the bottom that
"This notice is the same notice previously [sent or posted] electronically
on [date]."

If this Order is enforced by a judgment of a United States eoun of
appeals. the words in the notice reading "Posted and Mailed by Order of
the National Labor Relations Board" shall read "Posted and Mailed Pur-
suant Io a Judgment of the United States Court of Appeals Enforcing an
Order of the National Labor Relations Board."
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WE WILL NOT maintain an overly broad policy that pro-
hibits our employees from wearing pins and buttons that
advocate for political, religious, or personal issues.

WE wiLL NOT maintain or enforce an overly broad pol-
icy that prohibits our employees from wearing shirts or
tops that have logos, writings, or designs.

WE wu.L NOT order you to remove your union T-shirts.
WE WILL NOT threaten you with discipline for wearing

your union T-shirts.
WE WILL NOT in any like or related manner interfere

with. restrain. or coerce you in the exercise of the rights
listed above.

WE WILL rescind the unlawful dress code rule that pm-
hibits our employees from wearing more than one union
pin or button.

WE wiLL rescind the unlawful dress code rule that pro-
hibits our employees from wearing pins or buttons that ad-
vocate f`or a political, religious. or personal issue.

WE WILL rescind the unlawful dress code rule that pro-
hibits our employees from wearing shirts or tops that have
logos, writings, or designs.

WE WILL furnish you with inserts for the current em-
ployee dress code policy that (1) advises that the unlawful
provisions have been rescinded, or (2) provides lawtiilly
worded provisions on adhesive backing that will cover the
unlawful provisions, or wE WILL publish and distribute re-
vised employee dress codes that (l)do not contain the un-
lawful provisions, or (2) provide lawthlly worded provi-
sions.

Susannah Ringel. Esq. and Jacob Frisch. Esq.. for the General
Counsel.

David Struck, Esq., Jim Thelen. Esq, and David Qvtem. Esq.. for
the Respondent.

Summer Oman Esq., for the Charging Party .

DECISION

SIREN RHA11. CORP.

RESERVE ROASTERY

D/a/A STARBUCKS

The Boardls decision can be found at
https://www.nlrb.gov/case/02-CA-305984 or by using the

QR code below. Alternatively, you can obtain a copy of
the decision from the Executive Secretary, National Labor
Relations Board. lol5 HalflStrec1, S.E., Washington,D.C.
20510, or by calling (202)273-1940.

E E.QE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mlc'nAeL P. SILvEnsrElr4. Administrative Law Judge. In this
case, the General Counsel alleges that Siren Retail Corporation
d/b/a Starbucks Reserve Roastery (Respondent) has maintained
certain facially unlawful dress code rules at its New York City
Roastery location. The allegedly unlawtitl dress code rules at
issue include: l) allowing employees to only wear one pin or
button in support of a labor organization ("the one-pin rule"). 2)
prohibiting employees from wearing buttons or pins that advo-
cate a political, religious. or personal issue; and 3) prohibiting
employees from wearing shirts, tops. or outerwear that contain
designs, logos and writings aside from a small manufacturers'
logo. The General Counsel further alleges that on about Septem-
ber 19, 2022, Respondent violated the Act by instructing live
employees to remove union T-shirts that they were wearing and
threatening these employees with discipline if they did not
change out of their union T-shirts.

For the reasons described below, I lecommcnd dismissal of
the one-pin rule allegation on collateral estoppel grounds. but I
find that Respondent has violated the Act as alleged concerning
the two remaining dress code rules. instructing employees to re-
move their union T~shirts, as well as the threat of discipline for
failing to change out of the union T-shirts.

The Charging Party filed the charge in this case on October
25, 2022. The original complaint issued on June 22. 2023, and
an amended complaint issued on August 23. 2023. Respondent
filed its answer to the original complaint on July 6. 2023, and
filed its answerto the amended complaint on September 6, 2023.
On September 6, 2023. counsel for the General Counsel issued
to all parties a Notice of Intent to Amend Complaint at Hearing.
and formally moved to amend the complaint during the hearing.
(GC 2a and 2b.)' l granted this motion over Respondent's ob-
jcction.

This case was tried in New York, New York, on September
19 and 20, 2023, and concluded virtually on September26, 2023,
using the Zoom for Government platform. At trial, all parties
were afforded the right to call, examine, and crossexamine wit-
nesses,-' to present any relevant documentary evidence, and to
argue their respective legal positions orally. Counsel for the
General Counsel and Respondent filed posthcaring briefs,

On the entire record. including my observation of the de-
meanor of the witnesses, and alter considering the briefs filed by
the General Counsel and Respondent, I make the following:

El

I The amendment expanded Par. 7 to add the unlawful threat allege
son now contained in Par.7(bl of the complaint. See GC Exh. 2.

: The General Counsel called two witnesses-Lama Garza and Ash-
ley Kido-while the Respondent called three wimesms-Alex Sariyan..

Eryn Sable. and Carlos Cnnasco Rival.
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Respondent admits. and I find, that it is a Washington corpo-
ration with a facility located at 61 Ninth Avenue. New York,
New York. In conducting its business operations over the last
12 months, Respondent derived gross revenues in excess of
$500,000 and purchased and received goods in the Stale of New
York valued in excess of $5000 from points located outside the
State ollNew York. Respondent also admits, and l Lind, that Re-
spondent is an employer engaged in commerce within the mean-
ing of Sections 2(2), (6), and (7) of the Act.

Based on the foregoing, l find that this dispute atTccts corn-
merce and that the National Labor Relations Board (the Board)
has jurisdiction over this case pursuant to Section l0(a) of' the
Act.

ALLBGED UNFAIR LABOR pRA('n(jE53

market. testified that the purpose of the Roasteries is to let the
customers be pan of the magic of coHo to inundate all of the
customer's senses with coffee. (Tr. 187, 244.) Every piece of the
Roastery's design seeks to further this purpose-from the woods
used in the main bar to the lighting and design of the ceiling
meant to evoke Times Square. (Tr. 244.)" The NYC Roastery
features a clacker (Solari) board reminiscent ofa New York train
station and a movable art wall consisting ofcolfee cards that can
be arranged in various shapes like 8 Christmas tree or spelling
out "NYC`." (Tr. 266.) There is also a custom designed 3000-
pound copper sculpture of the Starbucks Siren to complement
the massive copper roasting cask. (Tr. 263, 272.)

Sable asserts that the NYC Roastery's partners7 are brand am-
bassadors for the Roastery -there to help support the vision and
experience the customer will have. Partners serving as conci-
erges (greeters stationed by the main entrance of the Roastery)
help welcome customers into the Roastery. The concierges ed-
ucate customers as to where they can go and what experiences
are available. The NYC Roastcry also employs a flotilla ofbaris-
tas at both the main and experience bars. These baristas prepare
cotTee beverages. demonstrate coffee making techniques unique
to the Roastery, walk customers through a colTee tasting, and an-
swer questions about the coffee served in the Roastery. (Tr. 19 I .)

Sable opined that NYC Roastery partners are part of the cast
ofcharaclers that deliver this coffee experience, and Respondent
wants its partners onstage, but it does not want its partners 'm the
spotlight. (Tr. 209.) In this regard, Canasco~Rivera's design
team consulted on the Roastery partner dress code to ensure that
it aligns with the overall design aesthetic." Sable described this
look as steampunk. hipster chic. (Tr. 192. 275.) It features cuffs,
dark jeans, a muted color palette, button down shirts, and collars.
Complementing this look is the apron that all baristas and oper-
ations leads wear. The brownish. green leather aprons are cus-
tom-made for the Roastery and feature rivets, stitching, and
leather straps meant to channel Respondentls steampunk, hipster
vibe. According lo Carrasco-Rivera, the apron design is an inte-
gral part of the Roastery experience as the textile used in the
apron reminds the customer that they are in a roasting facility
8nd the color of the apron changes over time to minor the green
to brown transfomlation of the coffee bean. (Tr. IB9, 260-261.)

NYC Roaslerjv Dress Code

Alex Sariyan, the NYC Roasteryls operations manager in

The facility irwolvd in this case is the Starbucks Reserve
Roastcry in New York City (the NYC Roastery), While them
are 13,000 "neighborhood" Starbucks stores across the United
States, there am only 3 Roastcrics in the United States (New
York, Chicago. and Seattle) and 3 more across the globe (Tokyo,
Shanghai, and Milan). (T r. 186. 215.) The NYC Roastery,
which opened in December 2018, is a multi-story, 23,000
square-foot immersive experience designed to create the "Willy
Wonka" of coffee. (Joint I, §3; Respondent 7, Tr. 259.) To this
end. there is a coulee roasting operation onsite, with an enormous
copper cask sewing as the centerpiece. There is the "main bar"
for the ordering and consumption of traditional coffee beverages
and the "experience bar," where coffee beverages are crafted
through a variety of techniques not found in the "neighborhood"
stores. There is also a separate bar upstairs. called "Arriviamo."
which fuses coffee with alcoholic beverages. Additionally, there
is an onsite bakery called "Princi," that features store-baked
breads, artisan pizzas, and pastries, as well as a retail section that
sells Starbucks-branded apparel and merchandise.'

Carlos Carrasco Rivera was part of the design team that cre-
ated the NYC Roastery. (Tr. 250.) He testified that it took about
2 to 3 years from initial concept design to opening the NYC
Roastery. (Tr. 269.)5 And Eryn Sable, who was a regional oper-
ations coach for Siren Retail in September 2022 and currently
serves as Siren Retail's director of operations for the Seattle

1 71\e record is hereby canceled as follows al: page 23, line 24, "di-
rective" is replaced by "directed"; at page 34. line 10 "Mr." is replaced
by '°Ms.", al page 35, line 4, "Mr. Frisch" is replaced by "Ms. Omar". al
page 38, line 23. "backup house area" is replaced by "back of house
area": at page48, line 24, "roast street" is replaced by "roastery°`; an page
59. line I, "prerogative" is replaced by "probative", at page 94. line 2.
"Guests" is replaced by "Guess", at page 143, lines 13 and 14, "registry"
is replaced by "mastery", at page IB7. line 2, "ever" replaced by "every":
an page 187. line 22. "in" is replaced by "is"; at page 221. line 3.
"Marcy's" is replaced by "Macy's", at page 255, line 24, "walk" is rc-
placed by "work"; an page 261. lines 12 and 13. "cast" is replaced by
"cask". at page 277. line 20, "Children" is replaced by "Chicago,"

' In addition to the If rec Roastcrics. there are three Starbucks Resetive
swres in the United States-" in Manhattan (Greenwich Lane and the
Empire State Building) and l in Seattle (SODO). The Reserve story
emulate the Rcasteries in their design and amenities (e.g. serving

alcohol). but none contains a roasting plant. (Tr. 231-237.) Additionally.
there was testimony that the name "Siren Retail" eolledively refers to
the three US Ronsteries and the three Reserve stores, (Tr, 237.) But since
the instant amended complaint specifically identities the Respondent as
"Starbucks Reserve Roastefy" and the commerce pleading language in
paragraph 2 of the amended complaint referred specifically to the NYC
Roastery, my decision, analysis, and recommended remedy only applies
to the NYC Ronstery und not to the Starbucks Reserve stores.

' Eryn Sable testified that the capital 'investment for a Roastery is
about 30 times the cost off "neighborhood" Starbucks store. (Tr. 243).

" Customers spend an average of 45 minutes in the NYC Roastery
whereas on average. a customer spends 3% minutes in a neighborhood
Starbucks. (Tr, 244).

7 Starbucks refers to its employees as "partners,"
* Cnnasco-Riyera's design team also consulted on the NYC Ronstery

summer dress code. (Tr. 278).
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employment. Exceptions to the dress code may be made where

required by law to accommodate sincerely held religious be-
licl`s of a disability. Please contact your Palmer Resources gen-
eralist for more information about exceptions." (Joint l, page
I6).

Dress Code Regarding Shirts. Sweaters. and .jackets

Respondent's Retail Addendum for the NYC Roastery 'm-
eludes the following diess code provisions concerning shirts:

"A long or shon-sleeved button-down shin with a collar must
be wom. Shins must be a solid color. simple parer or print.

Shirts may have a small manufacturer's logo, but my not have
other colors. designs. logos or writings. ,.

la visible undershirt is wons such as a T-shirt, in docs not need
to match the shirt color. but should hnnnonjze with it."(.lt. I.
p. 16.)

September 2022, testified that the dress code for partners at the
NYC Roastery consists of the following components: I) Star-
bucks partner guidebook; 2) Sircn Retail Look Book; and 3) Si-
ren Retail addendum. (Tr. l54.) The partner guidebook is a hand-
book containing rules, standards, and procedures for partners
across all of Starbucks` stores. New hires at the NYC Roastery
receive a copy of the Starbucks partner guidebook and the Siren
Retail Look Book, which outlines appropriate (and inappropri-
ate) attire for Roastery employees. At the same time, new pan-
ners at the NYC Roastery receive a copy of the Siren Retail ad-
dendum. which sets forth a secondary dress code only for part-
ners working at the Roastery. Partners receive a digital and hard
copy of' the guidebook. Look Book, and Siren Retail addendum
at the beginning of their employment. (Tr. 168-170,)

Paragraph I l of' the parties' joint partial stipulation of facts
states that the "Starbucks Reserve Ronstery and Tasting Room
Retail Addendum to Starbucks Partner Guide-U.S. Store Edi-
tion (January 2021), the Partner Dress Code policy, the Dress
Code Look Book, and the Summer Dress Code Guidelines are
collectively rcfened to as the "NYC Roastery Dress Code." (Jt.
l, p. I L)

The introduction to the Starbucks Reserve Roastery and Tast-
ing Room Retail Addendum to Starbucks Partner Guide-U.S.
Store Edition (hereinafter Retail Addendum) states the follow-
ing;

Respondent's Retail Addendum for the NYC Roastery also
includes the following dress code provision concerning sweaters
and jackets:

"This addendum to the Starbucks Partner Guide- US. Slope
Edition outlines key employment policies for Starbucks Re-
serve Roastery and Tasting Room ("Verve Roasters") retail
partners (store managers, shift managers and baristas) that dif-
fer from those policies that apply Io other Starbucks retail store
partners With the exception of the following outlined in this
Addendum, Reserve Roastery retail partners should refer to the
policies and guidelines outlined in the Partner Guideprovided
during new partner orientation and available to partners for ref-
erence throughout their employment with Starbucks. Refer
any questions or concerns to your store manager or contact
your Partner Resources generalist." (Joint l, page 16).

The Retail Addendum then contains the following language
under the subject heading "Dress Code and Personal Presenta-
tion:"

"In cooler temperatures, a solid dark blue or black jacket, or a
solid dark blue, black or gray sweaty may be wom over the
shin, Sweatshirts or hooded shirts axe not acceptable. Other
than a small manufacturer's logo, outerwear must not have
logos or writing. Crewneck sweatshirts sold in Starbucks
Roastery retail are acceptable over a button down collared

(Jt. l,p. l7.)

Four-Page Partner Dress CodeApplicable to /he NYC
Roaslery

The parties also stipulated that a separate partner dress code
has been in place at the NYC Roastery since at least August
2022. The dress code introduction explains that:

"We me coffee and culinary professionals. We need to be com-
fortable and stylish. It is critical that we get the details right in
our dress, that form and function work together.

Our dress code is designs driven. We are hip and trendy. Our
partners come Hom all over the world. bringing with them dill
Terence (sic) cultures. styles and languages..." (Jt. l. p. 23.)

The partner dress code then sets forth guidelines concerning
hair and hats, nails, jewelry/piercings, tattoos, personal hygiene,
and name tag/apron." The section heading titled "In Closing"
summarizes that:

"Partners are du: face of our brand. connecting with our cus-
tomers every day. Starbucks Verve Roastery panner5 should
present a clean, neat and professional appearance when starting
every shin. Clothing must be clean. hemmed. wrinkle-hee and
in good repair.

All partners are expected to follow these standards during the
workday. A partner who comes to work inappropriately
dressed or with unacceptable appearance may not be permitted

to start his or her shift Failure to adhere to the dress code may
result in conductive action, including separation from

"You are expected to follow these standards during the work~
day. If you come to work inappropriately dressed or with m1-
acceptable appearance, you may not be permitted lo start your
shift. Failure to adhere to the Dress Code may result in

' The name tag/apron provision states that "Partners must wear a
nametag with your name and include city. state or country where you are
Hom. Partners will receive their own leather Roaslery apron and are re»
sponsiblc for its care and aafckeeping. Apron should be clean and wrin-
kle free. Starbucks issued or coffee barista pins securely fastened only."
(JL I, p. 23.) This language diRlcrs slightly from the Retail Addendum,

which reads: "Names and home city or state or country on aprons arc
wom during each shih as specified by operational standards. No other
moditicaiions should be made to the apron itself unless specifically per-
mitted by Retail Operations guidelines. *Black Lives Matter and World
Aids Day use the Slaxbucks exceptions..." (JL l, p. I6).
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corrective action. including separation from employment."
(Joint l, page23),

Underneath the general partner dress provisions. there are spe-
ciiically delineated dress requirements for partners working in
different locations throughout the Roastery. For baristas and op-
erations leads working at the main bar, experience bar, and in the
retail section. IJ1e dress code is as follows:

"TOPS:

An undershirt, cardigan or sweater may be worn. and
does not need to match. but must harmonize with the
shin color
Dark blue denim jeans or solid black jeans with cuffs
rolled up. Leather or leather like lace up sneakers,
oxfords. or ankle boats in Brown or Black
Accessories: Fun dress socks. handkerchiefs. ties.
bowtie. Approved Hat in Black. White, Gray.
Brown. Khaki. or Beige" (JL 2, P. 7).

The Look Book goes on to provide visual examples of what is
approved attire and what is not under the heading of "Dols and
Donlts." The "Donlts" section additionally confirms that "shirts
must be in color palette range" and partners may not wear bright
or neon colors and no large or distracting patterns. (.It. l. p. 28:
Jr. l p. 7-)

An additional element of the NYC Roastery dress code is a
summer dress code that went into effect in 2020". The written
summer dress code says that:

Button-down shirt with a collar or turtleneck (short or
long~slceved).
Color palette: Mutcd color tones of red, orange. yel-
low, green, blue, brown, purple, black, brown and
white'°
Solid colors or a small. simple pattcm or print
Shins may be wom tucked in or untuckod and cannot
expose midsection.
An undeishin, vest, cardigan or sweater may be
wom, and does not new to match. but must harmo-
nizc with the shirt color
Siren Roastery Merch Shirts, Sweatshirts or Pamler
Network shirts are allowed with turtleneck or collared
shirt undcmcath
All attire must be clean and wrinkle-Hee..." (It. l. p.
24.)

"only Roastery T-shirts are allowed (no collar
needed)
Shorts colors are khaki, navy. black. dark blue &
black denim

Short length: inseam must be 7" or longer

Patio: Aprons are allowed to be folded in half with
your nametag on the edge," (Joint 2. page l0).

Testimony Regarding Summer Dress Code and Partner Ne!»
work T-shirts

The barista dress code goes on to describe appropriate attire
for "bottoms, accessories. shoes, aprons, and hats" and provides
visual aids for the approved color palette and approved hat styles.
The dress code then provides the same types of information for
partners working at Princi bakery and Arriviamo. (JL I, p. 25.)

An additional component of the NYC Roastery dress code is
a "Look Book," which provides a similar, yet slightly different
bulleted list of permissible dress for partners working at the main
bar, experience bar, and in the retail area:

"Button-down shirt with a collar (short or long-
sleeved) or a turtleneck in a muted solid color, small
simple pattern or print. Acceptable colors are: Black.
Gray, Navy, Brown, Khaki & White
"ONLY EXCEPTION TO COLOR PALETTE: Re-
serve Roastery Retail Clothing items (as long as wom
with collared shin underneath) this includes: T-shirts,
sweatshirts, Roastcry branded beanies only (NO
BASEBALL CAPS)
Shirts may be wom tucked in or untuckcd. If' wom
unluckod, the bottom must be long enough not to ex-
pose the partner's midsection while working, but gen-
erally not longer than the back pants pocket

Alcx Sariyan testified that during the summer. NYC Roastery
partners that work on the outside patio are permitted to wear T-
shirts without collared shirts underneath. so long as it is a Star-
bucks-branded T-shirt. (Tr. l73.) 'l7tis is consistent with the
above-referenced summer dress code, and Sariyan made clear
that only Starbucks-branded T-shirts sold in the NYC Roastery
are permitted to be wom by partners. (Tr. l72.)!2 Each of these
T-shirts has the Starbucks Reserve logo on the sleeve.

Eryn Sable testified that as of 2020. partners have been per-
mitted to wear other Starbucks-branded T-shirts beyond the T-
shirts sold in the NYC Roastery. (Tr, 222.) Carlos Carrasco-Ri-
vera then testified that NYC Roastery partners are permitted to
wear Starbucks partner~network T-shirts while working either
inside the Roastcry (with a collared shin undcmeath) or on the
outside patio (Tr. 296.)!3 Carrascakivera explained that there
are about 10-12 Starbucks partner networks that are designed to
create community within the company. 14 These networks are for
partners who identify as Hispanic, Veterans (or serving in the
armed forces). Ah'ican-American, and Pan-Asian. for example.
These are Starbucks partner-mn organizations, but partners have

'° Exhibit B of Joint I differs slightly from the language cited by the
panics in par. 8 (p. 4) oll.lL Exh. I. Exhibit B added red. orange, yellow,
green. blue, and purple to the accepted color palette while omitting ref~
ercnccs lo navy and grey, (JL l. p. 24.) Ashley Kido testified that green
and red were added lo the color palette at some point, but Kido could not
recall when those colors were added. (Tr. 98, l42.)

!' The Summer Dress Code only applies to the NYC Roostery and
does not apply to Respondent's Seattle and Chicago Roasteries (even
though the Chicago Roastery has an outdoor patio). (Tr. 230).

II Eryn Sable testified that partners must purclwse these T-shirls. nl-
bei! with n 30 percent discount. (Tr. I96.)

" Ashley Kido tmitied Thu! during the summer, partners can wear
Roastery-approved T-shirts that are available for purchase in the
Roastery. (Tr. 98.) Kido was not specifically asked about Starbucks part-
ner-network T-shirts.

14 These partner networks areopen to prmnels who work in the negulu
Starbucks stores, the Roasteries. and the Reserve stores across the United
States. (Tr. 294.)
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to apply for membership to these networks through Starbucks'
Partner Hub internal web portal. Once they are granted access
to the specific pannier network. the panncrs will receive a T-shirt
from that organization. (Tr. 292-295.)

The various partner~network T-shirts are similar in design.
The shirts are usually black or dark green (but occasionally blue
or brown) and feature a small logo in the upper left front side of
the shin that fuses with the specific partner-networkls identity,
as well as a small message on the back of the shirt. For example,
the Hispanic partner-network T-shirt says "Hors del Café."
which translates to "Coffee Time." (Tr. 290-293, 298.) These
T-shirts are not sold in the NYC Roastery. (Tr. 29l.)

Dress Code RegardingPins and Buttons

The parties stipulated that since January 202 l . Respondent has
maintained and enforced the following dress code concerning
pins and buttons at its NYC Roastcry:

"Partners may only wear buttons or pins issued to the partner
by Starbucks for special recognition or for advertising a Star-
bucks-sponsored event or promotion: Starbucks approved pins
representing a partner network and one reasonably sized and
placed button or pin that identities a particular labor organiza-
tion or a partner's support br that organization. except if it in»
terfcres with safety or threatens to harm customer relations or
otherwise unreasonably imerfc-res with Starbucks public im-
age. Pins must be securely fastened.
BLM pins are allowed by Starbucks."
Prntnas are not permitted to wear buttons or pins that advocate
a political, religious or personal issue." (Joint l, page 2).!"

NYC Roasrergv Partners Wear Union T-shirts on
September 19. 2022

Ashey Kido" is an operations lead at the NYC Roastery. Kido
arrived for work at about 6:00am"' on September 19. 2022 wear-
ing a brown turtleneck and black denim pants. Kido changed
clothes in the employee locker mom and put on a black T-shirt
that read "Starbucks Workers United." The T-shirt contained a
graphic of a hand grabbing what appears to be a cofTce shaker.
(JL 2. Tr. I 00.)

Kido then put on u work apron and clocked in to start the shift.
Kjdo greeted an associate manager named Sally, received a
schedule for the day, and performed regular pre-store opening
activities-cash management. setting up coffee equipment, and
preparing food case displays. (Tr. 100. I46.)

Kido was not alone in wearing the Starbucks Workers United
T-shirt ("Union T-shirt") that day. In a coordinated effort, about
5-7 partners that mouing wore the black union T-shirts and all
of the partners who wore the union T-shirts worked at the main
bar. (Tr. 68, 81, 112, l70.)!"

Ashley Kido 's Testimony

Kido testified that sometime between 9 a.m. and 10 a.m, Sari-
yan asked to speak with her and then they walked over and sat
down on a couple of stools near the main bar. Sariyan told Kido
that the union T-shin was not compliant with Respondent's dress
code. Kido replied that the NLRB as a federal agency permitted
employees to wear the union T-shirt. Sariyan said that he didn't
know anything about that, but that he would look into the matter.
Sariyan asked Kido to remove the shin and told Kido that if she
did not remove the union T-shirt, she would be written up. Sari-
yan then asked Kido to talk lo her co-workers about removing
their T-shirts as well. Kido said that she was responsible for her
own actions, but she was not responsible for the actions of others
and Sariyan would have to ask them himself. Sariyan told Kido
she could have 5-10 minutes to change her clothes. (Tr. lol-
102. ll7.)

Kido then went downstairs to confer with a Union representa-
tive. A few minutes later, Kido spoke with Sariyan again, but
this time, several other partners who were wearing the union T-
shirts joined the conversation. This conversation took place by
the main bar, almost in the middle of the Roastery. (Tr. l2l.)
Kido told Sariyan that she was permitted to wear the union T-
shirt at work and handed Sariyan a slip of paper that allegedly
confirmed her belief that federal law permitted her to wear the
union T-shin at work" (Tr. 102-103, I20.) Sariyan said that he

" This language comes from the Retail Addendum submit as JI.
Exh. I (p. 18). The BLM pins language was not pan of the amended
complaint pleading, but in its posthcaring brief(p. 15, 61. 4) Respondent
acknowledges that the complaint language referenced an older version
of Respondents dress code and the opantive dress code, which refer-
ences BLM pins, is the one I refer to above.

!" Partners who work in the Princi bakery are not permitted lo wear
pins or buttons due to food safety regulations. (Tr. 238.) Counsel for the
General Counsel concedes in footnote 4 (p. 4) of her posthearing brief
that she is not challenging the Princi bakery restrictions.

" Kidc testified that she uses shdhim pronouns. For clarity of the
record here, I am using the "she" pronoun when referring to Kido
lhmughout this decision.

"' At that lime. the NYC Roastcry opened no the public at 7 a.m. (Tr.
l45.)

no There were about 20 partners in all working at the NYC Roastcry
that day. Only 5 to 7 out of the 20 partners wore the union T-shirts (Tr.
I70).

:0 Kido testified that she no longer has a copy of this slip ofpoper and
Ute slip of paper was not offered as an exhibit at 111: hearing, (Tr. 1Z3).
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wasn't going to read the paper or sign it, and again asked her to
change out of the union T-shirt. Sariyan said that if she did not
change out of the union T-shin, she would receive a written
warning for being out of dress code. Kido asked Sariyan to clar-
ify whether she would still be written up if she changed out of
her union T-shin. Sariyan said that she would not be written up
if she changed out of the T-shirt, but Sariyan told her that if she
did not change out of the union T-shin, she would be disrupting
Respondentls business and he would write her up. Kido and her
co-workers then went to the employee break room. changed out
of the union T-shirts, and resumed their shifts. (Tr. 103-104.)

This was the first and only time that Kido wore the union T-
shirt while at work. (Tr. 126, I47.) No employee was disciplined
for wearing the union T-shirts on September 19th. (Tr. IZZY.)

Alex Saroyan '.r Te.rtinmn_\'

Alex Sariyan testified that on September 9th, he arrived at
work sometime between 9 a.m. and 10 a.m.. had an off-the-floor
meeting at 10 a.m., and emerged from that meeting about 35
minutes later. Sariyan wus near the main bar and noticed that
several partners that had been in compliance with the dress code
earlier that mouing were no longer in compliance with the dress
code. These partners, about 5 to 7 of them, were wearing the
black union T-shirts over their aprons. (Tr. l54-l 56.)

Sariyan approached Kido and asked where the T-shirts came
from. Sariyan does not recall Kidols response, but he told Kido
that the union T-shirts were not approved dress code attire and
he would give her the option and time to change into approved
dress code. Initially, Kido refused, but Sariyan did not recall
Kido's explanation for her refusal. (Tr. 157-158.)

Sariyan then stepped ollf of the floor and called the NYC
Roastery's managing director. Sta Stenson. for guidance as he
was unsure how to handle the situation. A few minutes later,
Sariyan spoke again with Kido. explained that partners needed
to be in approved dress code, and shared that he would slow
down operations (meaning letting fewer customers into the
Roastery) to allow Kido and the other partners time to change
their shirts. Although Kido told Sariyan that the partners had a
federal right to wear the union T-shirt at work. Kido and the other
partners agreed to change back into approved dress code. Once
the partners changed their shirts, Kido handed Sariyan a piece of
paper indicating that Respondent was violating their fcdcml
rights by refusing to 8llow them to wear the union T-shirts. (Tr.
l58-162-I63.)

Sariyan testified that he did not specifically discuss with Kido
how she would be held accountable for not being in compliance
with Respondents dress code and said that there was no discus-
sion of potential consequences (e.g. written discipline) for refus-
ing to comply with the dress code. (Tr. l7l.)

Sariyan further testified that he observed the partners wearing
the union T-shins over their aprons. or not wearing the aprons at
all. Sariyan posited that even if the partners wore the union T-
shirts under their aprons, they would still be out of dress code
because the only approved T-shirts for partners to wear at the

NYC Roastcry are the Starbucks-branded shirts sold inside the
Roastery. (Tr. l'13.).

None of the partners who wore the union T-shins at work on
September l9th was disciplined. The partners in question
worked the rest of their shifts that day in compliance with Re-
spondent`s dress code. (Tr. I62).

Laura Garza 's Testimony

Laura Garza worked as a barista at the NYC Roastery from
June 2021 through March 2023. (Tr. 37-38.) On September
19th. Garza came to work at about 10 a.m., went to the locker
room, put on the union T-shirt, and donned her apron over the T-
shirt. Garza then punched in and assumed her responsibilities at
the espresso bar.2I (Tr. 42-43.)

A short time later. Garza heard assistant manager Alex
Lokken say to employees something to the effect of you guys
were told not to wear those shirts. Garza testified that she had
her back to the conversation. the espresso machines were on. she
was concentrating on making drinks for her customers and so she
did not hear much of this conversation. nor does she recall to
whom Lokken was speaking. (Tr. 4}-44. 64, 87.)

About ten minutes later, Garza heard Sariyan telling other
partners th8t they were not allowed to wear the union T-shirts
and they needed to go downstairs and change out of the shirts.
(Tr. 44.) Garza continued working and a short time later, Sariyan
began making drinks alongside her. Sariyan said to her some-
thing to the cl¥lect of "the shirts are looking brand new or fresh."
Garza responded that was how she liked to wear the shin. Sari-
yan then told Garza that she could go downstairs and change out
of her shirt. Garza followed this instruction and changed out of
her union T-shirt. (Tr. 45.)

Garza was not disciplined for wearing the union T-shirt and
she is not aware of any employees who were disciplined for
wearing the union T-shinL (Tr, 85-86.)

Sariyan testified that he did not recall speaking with Laura
Garza on September 19. (Tr. l62.)

Videlolsof the Sarivan/Kido Conversation

Pursuant to Respondents trial duces tecum subpoena. the
Charging Party produced four video clips showing portions of
Alex Sariyanls conversation with Ashley Kido on September 19.
The video clips ranged in length from 23 seconds to I minute
and 39 seconds. I admitted the videos into evidence. over the
Charging Party and General Counsells objections. as Respond-
ent l through 4. These videos show portions of the same con-
versation between Kido and Sariyan and several partners are pre-
sent for this conversation."

The videos were of generally poor quality with very little au-
dible on the recordings. The following can be gleaned from the
recordings, as contirmW through Kido's testimony:

Kido is the individual wearing the ID lanyard on her
waist (Respondent 3);
Kido is wearing a Union T-shirt, but is not wearing
an apron during the conversation with Sariyan

11 There are two espresso bars in the main bar area. This oval shaped
workspace also contains a section for drip coffee production as well IS
the pncpamlion ofnon4:oiTcc bevcmgcs. (Tr. 82).

22 it is unclear from the nccord who made these recording;
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its products and the information contained on those pinslbuttons
was just as much a part of Starbucksls public image as any other
aspect of its dress code. The Conn went on to say that Starbucks
was also entitled to avoid the distraction that two or l7'lollc union
buttons would bring, and that Starbucks adequately maintained
the opportunity to display pl'o~union sentiment by permitting
one. but only one, union pin/button on workplace clothing.
Thus, Starbucks had met its burden of establishing that the one-
pin restriction was a necessary and appropriate means ofprotect-
ing its legitimate managerial interest in displaying a particular
public image through the messages contained on employee
pins/buttons. ld. at 78.

Analysis

(Respondent I and 4: Tr. 132. 138, l4l);
Kido and Sariyan are speaking during the videos (Tr.
l38);
Al least two partners seen in the videos are wearing
their work aprons (Respondent 4);
Sariyan identifies someone named "Laura" as a pan-
ner who should remove their shirt;
Kido and another partner are holding the slips ofpa-
per referencing their belief that the NLRA allows
these employees to wear the Union T-shirts at work
(Respondent 2: Tr. 136, l40);
There was no mention of discipline in the pans of the
video that are audible (Tr. l32);
The videos captured most, but not all of Snriyanls
conversation with Kido. and most of what was said
during the conversation cannot be discerned.

Previous Litigation Regarding Pins and Buttons!-I

In 2006. Starbucks and the Board entered into an informal set-
tlement agreement to resolve an unfair labor practice charge Filed
by the lntemational Workers of the World (IWW) regarding
Starbucks' alleged refusal to permit partners to wear pins and
buttons in support of the lWW at several New York City neigh-
borhood Starbucks stores." The settlement resulted in Starbucks
adopting the following language in the next published version of
the Starbucks partner guide:

"Farmers are not permitted to wear buttons or pins that advo-
cate a political, religious or personal issue. The only buttons or
pins that will be permitted are those issued to the partner by
Starbucks for special recognition or advertising a Starbucks-
sponsored event or promotion; and reasonably-sized and -
placed buttons or pins that identity a particular labor organiza-
tion or a pamler's support for that organization, except if they
interfere with safety or threaten to harm customer relations or
otherwise unreasonably interfere with Starbucks public im-
age."

Shortly after entering into the 2006 settlement agreement,
Starbucks interpreted its obligations under the Act to require no
more than one union pin per partner per shih. lW W  filed a
charge against the one-pin rule and in 2008. ALJ Mindy Landow
found that Starbucks violated Section 8(a)( I ) of the Act because
Starbucks failed to demonstrate that there were special circum-
stances warranting the promulgation and enforcement of its one»
pin rule. In Starbucks Co_02'e Co., 355 NLRB 636 (20l0), the
Board affirmed Judge Landow and found that Starbucks failed
to establish special circumstances justifying its one-pin rule and
thus, Starbucks` one-pin rule violated Section 8(a)( II of the Act.

This issue was appealed to the Second Circuit and in NLRB v.
Starbucks Corp.. 679 F.3d 70 (2nd Cir. 2012), theSecond Circuit
found that Starbucks's enforcement ofits one-pin dress code was
not an unfair labor practice. The Court found that Starbucks was
entitled to oblige its employees to wear pins/buttons promoting

A. Collateral .Esloppel Diclatcs Dismissal of the One Pin Rule
Allegation

Under collateral estoppel. once an issue is actually and neces-
sarily determined by a court of competent jurisdiction, that de-
termination is conclusive in subsequent suits based on a different
cause of action involving a party to the prior litigation. Montana
v. United Styles. 440 U.S. 147, 154-155 (I979), Big D Service
Co.. 293 NLRB 322. 323 (1989). An issue is "necessarily dctcr-
mined" if its adjudication was necessary to support the judgment
entered in the prior proceeding. Marlene Industries Corp. v.
NLRB. 712 F.2d lol 1, lol5 (6th Cir. 1983). For collateral es-
toppel to apply, the issue must have been actually litigated in the
prior proceeding. Big D Service Co.. 293NLRBat 323; Parklane
Hosiery Co., Inc.. v. Shore. 439 U.S. 322, 326 fir. 5 (1979). in
United States v. Starggisr Chemical Co.. 464 U.S. 154. 173
(1984), the Supreme Court hold that collateral estoppel is appli-
cable against the Government when: "mutuality" exists, i.e., "in
a case where the Govcmment is litigating the same issue arising
under virtually identical facts against the same party "in a second
case."

The Board'sdecision in Sabine Towing & Transportation Co..
263 NLRB 114 ( l982) is instructive here. InSabine Towing. the
issue presented was whether the employer violated the Acl by
refusing to permit nonemployee union organizers to board its
docked vessels to solicit the employer's employees concerning
an upcoming representation election. The Board found a viola-
tion in anunderlying case (Sabine I), and Sabine I was appealed
to the 5th Circuit Court of Appeals. The Circuit Court denied
enforcement of the Board's order, finding that the Board had
misullocated the burden of proof. and noting that had the Board
allocated the burden properly. it would have found in the em-
ployer̀ s favor.

Then a few years later. the employer again denied union or-
ganizers access to its docked vessels in the sunup to a rem elec-
tion. The General Counsel issued a new complaint alleging that
the employer's more recent denial of access violated the Act.
But AU William Schmidt found. and the Board adopted the
AL.I's reasoning in full, that collateral estoppel required the dis-
missal of the more recent denial of access claim. In this regard,

" An adminisulla\ive law judge may rely on the famial Endings in a
prior case under the doctrine of collateral estoppel. See Great Luca
Chemical Corp., 300 NLRB 1024, 1025 fn. 3 (l990l: Plunnelrl Building
Services. Inc., 341 NLRB 670. 670 fn. z (2006).

I-I This litigation preceded the opening of the NYC Roastcry by over
a decade.
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Judge Schmidt noted that the litigation in his case involved the
same parties, the same group of targeted employees, and similar
alleged misconduct as in Sabine I, and that the fiindamenlal prin-
ciples applicable to cases involving nonemployee access had re-
mained unchanged since the Circuit Court's decision in Sabine
1.

Judge Schmidt noted that:

"...these parties have once before litigated the question of
whether or not this seamen are accessible to outside organiz-
ers 11 is this question which is always titndamcntzd to the out-
come of cases of this nature and which consumes so much time
in proceedings of this type. Therefore, the essential question
posed by this litigation is whether or not anyone will ever be
bound by a judgment previously made which tests on the fac-
tual conclusion that these seamen are suiliciently accessible at
locations away from Respondentls premises or must this issue
be resolved cnch time a mere request for access is made and it
is denied." Id. at 120.

litigated before and determined by the Second Circuit. collateral
estoppel principles compel the conclusion that the General
Counsel is foreclosed from seeking reconsideration of the onc-
pin rule and must be bound by the Second Circuit's determina-
tion. Therefore. I recommend dismissal of the allegation con-
ceming Respondent's maintenance of its one-pin rule.

B. Jcjkrxon Chemical Does Not Require Dismissal of the
Shirts and Tops Dress Code Rule

Respondent asserts that General Counsel's 2008 litigation be-
fore Judge Landow regarding maintenance of its shirts and tops
dress code rules forecloses the current litigation under Jgllkrson
Chemical. 200 NLRB 992 (1972). The Board has made clear
that Jeljérson Chemical's holding is policy-based, not jurisdic-
tional, and is limited to those narrow circumstances where the
General Counsel attempts to "twice litigate the same act or con-
duct as a violation of different sections of the Act" or "to reliti-
gate the same charges in different cases." National Association
of8roudcasI Employees & Technicians. 371 NLRB No. 150, slip
op. at 3 fn. 10 (2022); /tginiry Medical Center. 364 NLRB 880.
881 (20l6). Where the new allegations are factually independent
lion the allegations that were litigated in the earlier proceeding,
it is permissible for the General Counsel to litigate the new alle-
gations separately, since the separate proceedings will not sacri-
fice fairness and economy. Ajiiniry Medical Center; 364 NLRB
at SSI.

It appears that in the earlier Starbucks cases, the General
Counsel pled a portion of Respondent's dress code concerning
shins as a violation of the Act based on an unlawful maintenance
theory, and then separately pled disparate enforcement of this
rule. But Judge Landow's decision did not specifically address
the unlawful maintenance of this dress code provision. Judge
Landow did note the following in footnote 34:

"Although the General Counsel contends in its brief that the
stricter enforcement of the dress code is a violation of Section
8(a)( I ), the General Counsel has not set forth any theory under
which I might find such a violation where the allegation has not
been pled in the complaint. In this regard, I note that the Gen-
cial Counsel amended the instant complaint on numerous oc-
casions during the hearing. and al no point put the Respondent
on notice that it would argue that the overall crrformment of the
dress code at the Union Square East store was violative of the
Act. Moreover, the General Counsel failed to develop the rec-
ord with specific evidence regarding when the dress code be-
gan to be more strictly enforced Upon review of the record I
lind that. under all the circumstanocs, the matter was not fully
litigated and accordingly. will make no findings with regard
thereto."

This footnote focuses on a stricter enforcement theory of I vi-
olation as opposed to the unlawful maintenance of a dress code
rule. It is unclear from the record just how the General Counsel
amended its complaint during the hearing before Judge Landow
and what impact those amendments had, if any. on paragraph
18(a) of the complaint that is attached to Respondent's Motion

Citing United S1are.v v. Montana, Judge Schmidt posited that
although there was a temporal difference between the actions in
Sabine I and the case before him, the General Counsel failed to
show that there was a material change in the factual circum-
stances to warrant a redetermination of the central access issue.
ld. ax 121. Thus. Judge Schmidt concluded that the issue before
him was no more than an attempt to relitigate the accessibility
question previously determined by the Circuit Court and that the
parties were stopped fi'om seeking a reconsideration of the prior
determination that the employer's seamen were reasonably ac-
cessible away from its premises.

The one-pin rule at issue before me is nearly identical to the
one~pin rule decided by the Second Circuit. The only difference
is that the current rule. as spelled out in the Retail Addendum,
explicitly permits partners to wear Black Lives Matter (BLM)
pins and pins representing Starbucks partner networks. But this
minor change is factually immaterial to the central issue concem-
ing this specific allegation - whether Respondentls maintenance
of a dress code rule limiting its NYC Roastery partners to wear-
ing one pin identifying a particular labor organization violates
Section 8(0)(l) of the Act." The answer to that question has
already been supplied by the Second Circuit. The General Coun-
sel and Respondent litigated that very question through the Cir-
cuit Court and the Circuit Court determined that Respondent's
maintenance of its one-pin rule does not violate the Act.

Eleven years later. the General Counsel alleges that the virtu-
ally identical rule maintained for NYC Roastery employees
should not be subject to issue preclusion. Even though the NYC
Roastery did not exist when the one-pin rule was list litigated
through the courts, that fact does not change the outcome. In this
regard, Rtspondcnfs multi-faceted, elaborately written dress
code for its NYC Roastery partners contains the same one-pin
rule that Starbucks` neighborhood store partners adhere to. And
that is the specific rule alleged to violate the Act in paragraph 6
of the amended complaint. Since it is the same prosecuting and
responding parties litigating nearly identical facts already

11 Thc BLM pin and Starbucks partner pin language will. however.
impact my analysis inf'a in Section E of this decision concerning the

allegation prohibiting wearing pins or burtons that advocate for a per-
sonnl, political, or religious issue.
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for Pariah Summary Judgment. What l do know is that Judge
Landow did not make a finding on the lawfulness of the mainte-
nancc of a dress code rule pertaining to shirts. And the Board
and Second Circuit decisions that followed are equally silent re-
garding this allegation. Based on the above, I conclude that Jef-
/erzvon Chemical does not wamint dismissal of the instant com-
plaint allegation regarding shins and tops. And because there
was no finding from the Board or the Second Circuit on this is-
sue, collateral estoppel also does not apply to this specific com-
plaint allegation.

Furthermore, I note that unlike the one-pin rule here. which is
nearly identical to the rule previously considered by the Second
Circuit, elements of Respondent's NYC Roastery dress code
make the shins and tops rule factually independent from the rule
supposedly addressed in Judge Landowls case. To this end. the
rule in Judge Landow's case only allowed partners to wear plain
black or white shirts with the same color undershirt. In the in-
stant case, the NYC Roastery dress code permits panncrs to wear
shins with a simple pattcm or print. with an expanded color pal-
ctte that includes orange. purple. red. yellow, brown. and khaki.
Importantly, the NYC Roastery dress code sets forth several ex-
ceptions to the general rule concerning tops, allowing partners to
also wear Siren Retail merchandise shirts as well as partner net-
work shirts. And the NYC Roastery dress code consists of a
Look Book with visual examples of what is permissible attire
and what is not. Coupled with the fact that the Roastery concept
and its very detailed dress code did not exist at the time ofludge
Landow's case, these factors further militate against the applica-
tion of.le"i:'rson Chemical here.

C. Res Judicam and Collateral Esloppel Do Not Require Dis-
nnissalqftlre Shirts-and Tops Dress Code Rule Allegation

Under the doctrine of claim preclusion, or resjudicata, a final
judgment forecloses "successive litigation of the very same
claim, whether or not relitigation of the claim raises the same
issues as theearlier suit." Taylor v. Stwgell. 553 U.S. 880, 892
(2008) quoting New Hampshire v. Maine. 532 U.S. 742, 748
(200l ). As noted above, Judge Landow did not make a formal
finding regarding the maintenance of' shins and tops dress code
rules and neither the Board nor the Circuit Court commented on
the matter. Therefore, no final judgment regarding this issue has
been established and rcsjudicata is not a basis for dismissing the
maintenance ofdrcss code rules allegation concerning shirts and
tops. Additionally, we are not talking about the same cause of
action because, as noted above. there are material differences re-
garding the shirts and tops dress code language presented to
Judge Landow and the shirts and tops dress code language I am

tasked to decide. Based on the above, I reject Respondent's res
judicata defense regarding the maintenance of the shirts and tops
dress code rule allegation.

Respondentasserts that theSecond Circuit's holding in NLRB
v, United Technologies. Corp., 706 F.2d 1254 (2nd Cir. l983)
supports a conclusion that res judicata should apply to the shirts
and tops rule at issue here. Respondent emphasizes the Court's
statement that resjudicata applies to issues both actually decided
in a previous case as well as issues that could have been raised
in the adjudication of that claim. ld at 1259. But the predicate
for the Court°s statement above was a4vv¢1i<L final judgment on
the merits" precludes subsequent litigation for the above-stated
reasons. ld. Since neither the Board nor the Second Circuit in
the earlier Starbucks litigation made a "valid, final judgment on
the merits" concerning the shirts and tops rule, resjudicata does
not apply to the instant matter.3"

Summa/jv ofRelevanl Cate Law Re: Union Insignia

Section 7 of the Act guamntecs employees "the right to self-
organization, to form, join, or assist labor organizations, to bar-
gain collectively through representatives of their own choosing,
and to engage in other concerted activities for the purpose of col-
lective bargaining or other mutual aid or protection." 29 U.S.C.
§ 157.

In Republic Aviation Cmp. v. NLRB, the SupremeCourt af-
tirmed that "the right of employees to wear union insignia at
work has long been recognized as a reasonable and legitimate
form of union activity, and the [employer's] curtailment of that
right is clearly violative of the Act." 324 U.S. 793. 802-803 &
fn. 7 (l945). The Supreme Court went on to say that the Board
must balance "the undisputed right of self-organization assumed
to employees under the Act and the equally undisputed right of
employers to maintain discipline in their establishments." ld. al
797-798. Republic Aviation established the Boald's longstand-
ing approach to balancing these rights: a presumption that any
employer limitation on the display of union insignia is invalid,
with the burden on the employer to establish special circum-
stances to justify its action. Tesla. Inc.. 371 NLRB No. 131. slip
op. at 612022).27

The Board has tre8ted clothes displaying union insignia the
same as union insignia that employees attach to their clothing.
such as buttons and pins. Tesla, Inc.. 371 NLRB No. 131 slip op.
at 7, Great Plains Coca-Cola Bottling Co.. 31I NLRB 509,515
(l993). Thus, Section 7's protection ofemployees` right to dis-
play union insignia "extends to prounion T-shirts," and the
Board will find that an employer's interference in any way with
such a display of union insignia violates the Act unless the

1* In the same vein, although I do not believe that the allegation con-
ceming the prohibition on weaning of buttons or pins that advocate a po-
litical. religious. or personal issue should be dismissed on collateral es-
toppel. res judicata. or Jegé-rsan Chemical grounds. it appears that this is
not the only Starbucks complaint across the country that alleges this spe-
cific allegation as a violation of Section 8(a\)( l ) of the Act. Sec e.g. 10-
CA-29l6l6. 06»CA-302 100. 28-CA-289622. illld 32-CA-292897. In
some of these complaints, the General Counsel is alleging that the pin
rule is facially unlawful. In other complaints. the General Counsel is
only pleading the pin language to support a finding ofdispnratc enforce-
ment of this rule. lt is unclear why.

27 In its post-hearing briell Respondent argues that [should disregard
the Boald's 2022 Tesla decision because the Filth Circuit recentlydenied
enforcementof thatdecision. Tesla, Inc. \'. NLRB. 2023 WL 7528878 (5*
Cir. 2023). It is well settled, however. that the Board generally adheres
to a "nonacquicscence policy" with respect to appellate court decisions
that conflict with Board law. This policy instincts administrative law
judges to follow Board precedent, not court of appeals precedent. unless
ovefrulW by the United States Supreme Court. See D.L. Baker. Inc.. 35 I
NLRB 515. fn. 42 (2007). Thus. I am compelled to adhere to the Boald's
Tesla decision as binding precedent in this case.
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employer proves special circumstances that outweigh the em-
ployees' right to wear the insignia and that its prohibition is nar-
rowly tailored to address those circumstances, Tesla, Inc.. 371
NLRB No. 131 slip op. al 7, 17, Wal-Mar/ Stores. 340 NLRB
637, 638 (2003), enfcL in relevant pan 400 F.3d 1093 (Sth Cir.
2005). The Board has required an employer to establish special
circumstances to justify restrictions on employees' right to dis-
play union insignia, even if the employer permitted employees
to display union insignia in other ways. Tesla, Inc., 371 NLRB
No. 131slip op. at IO, Cateipillalz Inc., 321 NLRB 1178, H80-
1 t8i & fn. 10(I996)_za

Furthermore. employers may lawfully maintain t°acially new
tral, nondiscriminatory dress codes and uniform policies that im-
plicitly limit or restTict the display of union insignia, so long as
they are narrowly tailored to serve a particular. legitimate inter-
est that outweighs the adverse effect on employees` Section 7
rights. Tesla, Inc., 37] NLRB No. 131 slip op, at 8 fn 21. But
mere employee contact with customers does not. standing alone,
justify an employer prohibiting the wearing of union buttons or
insignia. FloridiaII Hotel of Tampa. Inc.. 137 NLRB 1484
(l962). And a uniform requirement alone is not a special cir-
cumstance justifying a union insignia prohibition. Long Beach
Memorial Medical Center, Inc.. 366 NLRB No. 66. slip op. at 3
(2018); P.SK. Supenrtarkels, 349 NLRB 34, 35, (2007). Fur-
thermore, it is irrelevant that an employer permits employees to
wear other union insi@ia that it deems acceptable. Halladav
Par* Hospital. 262 NLRB 278. 279 (l982).

Summon'of ComparableSpecial Circumstances Cases

Respondent asserts that the highly cultivated dress code appli-
cable to its NYC Roastery satisfies the special circumstances test
set forth in Tesla and is analogous to the "wonderland" effect
found in Stanwood Hotels & Resorts WOrldwide. Inc. d/b/u W
San Diego, 348 NLRB 372 (2006). in Slaru-om the employer
operated a 250-room hotel in downtown San Diego and marketed
the W Hotel experience as a "Wonderland" where guests could
fulfill their "fantasies and desires" and get "whatever they want
whenever they want it." ld a! 372. To this end. the employer
commissioned special uniforms for its public-facing employees
to achieve 0 "trendy, distinct. and chic look." ld As pan of that
uniform, employees were permitted to wear a small "W" pin on
their upper left chest. but the employer's dress code prohibited
all other uniform adornments, including sweatbands, scarves
wom as belts, and professional association pins.

The employer in Starwood also encouraged employees to "ex-
press themselves" in a manner consistent with the trendy atmos-
phere, encouraged employees to interact with guests on a per-
sonal level. and required employees to introduce themselves by
name to each guest, In the Starwood case. an in-room food de-
livery server wore a button about four times the size of the "W"
pin that said "JUSTICE NOW' IUSTICIA AHORA' H.E.R.E.
LOCAL 30" in reference to ongoing collective bargaining nego-
tiations with the employer. The server's supervisor observed
him wearing the button and requested that he remove it.

The ALJ and the Board found that the employer established
special circumstances permitting the employer to restrict use of
the JUSTICE NOW button in public areas of the hotel. in this
regard, the Board noted that the union button would have inter-
fered with the employer's use ofa particular server uniform (pro-
fessionally-designed all-black shirt, slacks, and apron) to create
a special atmosphere for hotel customers. The Board in Star-
wood distinguished its case from United Parcel Service. 312
NLRB 596 ( I993) by noting that the pin in United Parcel Service
was much smaller than the pin in Sfanvood and contained a less
controversial message such that it was less likely to interfere
with UPS' effort to create a particular public image than the
JUSTICE NOW button in Stanwood. Id. at 373.

in Nordstrom, Inv.. 264 NLRB 698 ( l982), the Board found
that the employer violated Section 8(a)( I) of the Act by instruct-
ing one of its department-store salesmen, who was wearing 0 but-
ton identifying him as a union steward. to remove the union but-
ton. In so doing, the Board rejected the employcrls defense that
its need to preserve the high fashion image of its selling floor
employees was a special consideration justifying banning the un-
ion steward button. ld. at 702. The Board adopted the ALJIs
finding that the button in question was not of size or intrusive-
ness which unreasonably interfered with the employer's opera~
sons when balanced against the recognized right to wear union
insignia in the absence of special considerations. Specilically,
the ALJ determined that the button in question was small, taste-
ful. and inconspicuous, and the lack oaf intrusive insignia was
likely to reduce controversy among clientele and avoid debase-
ment of the fashionable image of the selling floor employees. ld

in contrast. in Palhmark Stores. Inc., 342 NLRB 378 (2004),
the Board found that the employer did not violate Section 8(a)( I )
of the Act by prohibiting its meat. seafood. and deli department
employees from wearing certain union insignia while working in
customer serviceareas of theemployer's grocery stores. InPuth-
mark, the unionand employer were engaged in negotiations over
a successor collective bargaining agreement when the union
Ieamed that the employer was stocking its meat departments with
substantial quantities of prepackaged meals. This reduced unit
employees' working hours and reduced hiring of new bargaining
unit employees. At one point. five bargaining unit employees
won: T-shirts and hats to work that said: "Don't Cheat About the
Meat"` Although the employer had no policy on uniforms and
had permitted employees to wear other union insignia. the em-
ployer threatened all five employees with suspension if they did
not remove these particular hats and T-shins before starting
work, believing that the slogan on the hats/T-shirts depicted the
employer as dishonest and could damage its relationship with its
customers - by getting customers to think that the employer was
somehow cheating them in connection with its meat products. ld.
at 378-379.

The Pat/:mark Board found that the "Don't Cheat About the
Meat" slogan was ambiguous, and it was reasonable for the em-
ployer to expect that the slogan likely could lead its customers to
believe that, aside from the issue of prepackaging, the employer

28 Employees' presumptive right to display union insignia is not lim~
imp to nonworking time or ironwork areas because unlH<c union

solicitation or distribution. the display of union insignia does not pose a
general risk to production. Tesla. Inc..371 NLRB No. 131slip op. al I I .
61.26.
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was cheating them in some other way with respect to the meat
alTered for sale. The Board further held that the employer's fail-
ure to substantiate its claim that its customer relationships had
actually been threatened was not significant given the Boardls
finding that the slogan reasonably threatened to create concern
among the employer's customers about being cheated, raising
the genuine possibility of harm to the customer relationship. For
those reasons. the Board found that the employer satisfied its
burden of establishing special circumstances to justify its deci-
sion to prohibit unit employees from wearing the T-shirts and
hats during their working time in the employer's stores. Id at
379-380.

D. Respondent Has Not Established Special C`ircumsfunves to
.luslify Resxriczing amp/qvees' Section 7 Activities, Numely

Wearing a T-shirt with the Union 's Insignia

Respondent asserts that the exacting detail and extraordinary
design elements of the NYC Roastery. coupled with its highly
cultivated dress code meant to hamlonizc and mesh with the ap-
pearance of the Roastery itselll support a finding of special cir-
cumstances necessary to permit reasonable restrictions on part-
ners' Section 7 rights. I certainly agree with witnesses' assess-
ments of the creativity and genius on display at the NYC
Roastery: 'just in awe of the grandeur;" "incredible;" "an im-
mersive experience...you are going to smell (coffee), see ii. hear
it...and taste it...it's all on display," "the concept is to create the
Willy Wonks of coiTee." (Tr, 74, 143, 187.259.) And in Stur-
wood Hotels, the Board countenanced restrictions on union in-
signia in furtherance of a similar-Wonderland effect. But the
dress code promulgated in Garwood to execute a trendy. distinct,
and chic look consisted of' only black or charcoal-colored pants,
shirt, and apron accompanied by a small silver-colored "W" la-
pel pin. Starwood Hotels, 348 NLRB at 372. 378-379. There
were no exceptions to the rule, and when the food service em-
ployee in Sranvood attempted to wear a large button bringing
attention to ongoing contract negotiations. the Board said that the
employer°s restrictions on the buttons constituted special cir-
cumstances because the button would interfere with the special
atmosphere created for the hotel's customers.

At first glance, it would appear that Respondent's restrictions
here should be upheld because its steampunk. hipster chic design
aesthetic mirrors the trendy atmosphere countenanced in Star-
vi-ood Hotels. And Eryn Sablcls testimony that "partners don't
highlight themselves in the experience-they are pan of the
backdrop,..and the dress code makes it so that partners don't
stand out." would seem to support Respondent's restrictions on
logos and writings on its uniform tops. (Tr. l90-l9l.) But a
closer look reveals that the exceptions carved into Respondent's
dress code swallow the original rule, thereby nullifying the force
of Respondent's special circumstances argument. To this end.
Respondent initially required a color palette of black. gray. navy,

brown, ldlaki, and white to help partners blend into the back-
ground. But in the las! few years, that color palette has greatly
expanded, allowing partners to wear red, orange. yellow. green.
blue. and purple-hardly colors that make it "so that partners
don't stand out."

But more importantly, Respondent's dress code exceptions in-
clude Starbucks Roastery T~shirts and sweatshirts as well as
Partner-Network shirts. These Roastery T-shirts include images
that take up an entire shin (the Starbucks siren T-shirt in GC Ex-
hibit 3c) as well as shins with writing specifically designed to
dr8w attention to the shin ("COFFEE COFFEE COFFEE" T-
shirt in GC Exh. 5, p. 2). Furthermore. the 10 to 12 Partner-
Network T-shirts that are compliant with the dress code all spe-
cifically promote cultural pride (e.g. Hors del Café T-shirts for
Hispanic associates) or identification with organizations well be~
yond the four walls of the Roastery (e.g. military or veteran sta-
Ms). These Fartner-Network T-shirts seemingly contradict the
slated purpose of the Roastcry dress code as they draw cus-
tomer's eyes lo causes that the partner identifies with and in ef-
fect makes the pannier "stand out." While support for such or-
ganizations is admirable. these T-shirts undercut Respondent's
argument that its dress code is designed with a neutral, muted
palette to allow partners to blend into the background pursuant
to is exacting design aesthetic. And it begs the question why
Partner-network organization T-shins promoting African-Amen
can culture and veterans status are permitted, but union T-shirts
are not? The union T~shirts meet the expanded color palette's
requirements-black, with green and white accents-they refer-
ence Starbucks. and contain an image of coffee cup ora coffee
shaker, There is no derogatory or incendiary language on the
shirt and the graphic is certainly smaller than the gray Starbucks
Siren T-shirt in GC Exhibit 3c.2° And Respondent already al-
lows its NYC Roastery employees to wear one reasonably sized
pin or button on their aprons that shows support for a labor or-
ganization.3*' Plus. them was no evidence of customer com~
plaints about the union T-shirts or evidence that anybody noticed
the union T-shirts except the managers who directed partners to
remove the shirts. in sum, Respondent wants its partners
8domed in muted colors with no writings to blend into the back-
ground of its Willy Wonka-esque design aesthetic but has cre-
ated a laundry list of exceptions such that its partners may wear
shirts/tops adored with a panoply of' Starbucks»endorsed
causes, images. and designs specifically conceived to draw at-
tention to the partner and their attire. Thus, the exclusion of Un-
ion T~shirts from Respondent's dress code exceptions is neither
narrowly tailored to serve a particular, legitimate interest nor
does this exclusion outweigh the adverse impact on employees'
Section 7 rights. Based on the above, I find that Respondent has
failed to establish special circumstances here and its restriction
on the display of union insignia, namely union T~shirts. in its
NYC Roastery dress code violates Section 8(a)( l) of the Act.

to Sariyan testified than partners who wore the union T-shins under
their aprons would still be out ofcompliance with the dress code. even if
the Union logo was not visible under the apron. (Tr. l72.) It is unclear
why than is.

Jo Even though Respondent permitted its partners to wear one pin
showing support for u labor organization, Respondent's tolerance for the
display of some union insignia by its employees does not permit it to

restrict other pmrecned displays of union insignia. In Tevlu. the Board
noted that to hold otherwise would effectively near the display of union
insignia as a privilege to be granted by the employer on the temps it
chooses member than as an essential Section 7 right the! the employer is
required to accommodate. Tesla, Inc.. 371 NLRB No. 131 slip op. at p.
IZ.
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E. Respondent Violrned Section 8(n)(l) of theArr In' Mainrain-
ing a Rule Proliibiring Partners from Wearing Buttons or Pins

That Adwlcarejbr a Political. Religious or Personal Issue

Respondent's d1*ess code explicitly permits partners to wear
BLM pins and Starbucks partner-network pins, but the dress
code does not permit partners to wear buttons or pins that advo-
cate a political. religious or personal issue. Such an overly broad
restriction would leave a reasonable employee with the under-
standing that wearing pins and buttons that support movements
such as "Fight for $l5" is forbidden. Thus, this restriction un-
necessarily infringes on employees' Section 7 rights in violation
of Section 8(a)( l ) of the Act.

As a threshold matter, l note that Counsel for the General
Counsel did not present any specific evidence at the hearing re-
garding this allegation. But Counsel for the General Counsel did
briefly address this issue in her opening statement "...Finally,
the code unlawfully prohibits pins that advocate political or per-
sonal issues, which is unlawful under Slericycle, 372 NLRB No.
l l3..." (Tr. 15. lines 4-6.) And this specific language was spe-
citically pled as a violation in paragraph 6 of the amended com-
plaint. Thus, the omission of any reference to this specific theory
of violation in Respondent's post-hearing bricfdoes not impli-
cate any due process concerns.

in her posthearing brief, Counsel for the General Counsel an-
alyzed the legality of this allegation under Sleriqvle, 372 NLRB
No. l 13 (2023). I, however, believe that Tesla provides the ap»
propitiate line of analysis. in Stericylc, the Board announced a
revised framework for analyzing facial challenges to work rules
under Section 8(a)(l). The Board requires the General Counsel
to prove that a challenged rule has a reasonable tendency to chill
employees from exercising their Section 7 rights and will inter-
pret the rule from the perspective of an employee who is subject
to the rule and economically dependent on the employer, and
who do contemplates engaging in protected concerted activity,
If the General Counsel can-ies her burden, the rule is presump-
tively unlawful, but the employer may rebut that presumption by
proving that the rule advances a legitimate and substantial busi-
ness interest and that the employer is unable to advance that in-
terest with a more narrowly tailored rule. If the employer proves
its defense. then the work rule will be found lawful to maintain.
Stericycle. 372 NLRB at slip op. 3. The Board clarified that this
standard applies only to facial challenges to the maintenance of
work rules that do not expressly apply to employees' protected
concerted activity. Id. at Fn. 3. But the Board specifically slated
that its Stericyle decision does not disturb the Boardls long-cs-
tablished doctrines covering work rules that address union (or
other protected) insignia. Id. at slip op. 8t 4. Since Rcspondcntls
restriction on wearing personal, religious, or political advocacy
messages relates only to pins and buttons. the Tesla standard is
the appropriate way to analyze the legality of this rule.

The first question is whether Respondent's restriction is nar-
rowly tailored to serve a particular, legitimate interest that out-
weighs the adverse etTect on employees' Section 7 rights. The
answer is DO. Respondent has provided no explanation for per-
mitting BLM and Starbucks partner-network pins and buttons,
which appear to fall under the personal (and perhaps political)
advocacy category. yet excludes all other personal, religious, or
political advocacy. Thus. this rule signals to partners engaged in

protected, concerted advocacy. such as wearing "Fight for SI5"
buttons. or other concerted complaints about working condi-
tions, that such activities are prohibited. See In-N-Out Burger,
365 NLRB No. 39 (2017) (Fight for Sl5 buttons); Mc-dco Health
Solutions, Inc.. 364 NLRB 1687 (2016) (T-shirts complaining
about employer's non-monetary incentive program).

The second question is whether Respondent has established
special circumstances to justify its restriction on employees'
Section 7 activity. Again. the answer is no. In this regard, Re-
spondent's desire for its partners to appear on stage. yet take a
backseat to the wonder and grandeur of the NYC Roastery can-
not be married with its granting of permission for partners to
wear buttons in support of Black Lives Matter, adorn their aprons
with World AIDS Day messages, and wear T-shirts, pins, and
buttons that promote the dozen or so Starbucks-panner networks.
Thus, Respondent's defenses fail as a reasonable employee
would lead Respondent's pins and button restrictions to ad-
ycrscly impact their Section 7 rights without narrowly tailoring
these restrictions to serve Respondenlls legitimate interests.
Based on the above. Rcspondcnfs restriction on partners wear-
ing pins or buttons that express personal, religious, or political
advocacy violates Section 8(a)( l ) of the Act.

F Respondent I/iolated Section 8(a)(I) of the Act by Instruct-
ing Operations Leads and Main Bar Barislas to Remove 77leir

Union T-shirts

lt is undisputW that on September 19, 2022, Alex Sariyan in-
formed about a half dozen main bar baristas and operations leads
to remove the union T-shirts that they were wearing because they
were not in compliance with Respondent's dress code. This in-
struction violated the Act. To this end, the fact that Respondent's
dress code did not explicitly restrict union insignia does not in-
sulate Respondent from liability under the Act. See Eoeh Im-
ports, Inc. v. NLRB, 826 F.3d 558, 574.575 (1st Cir. 2016) (re-
jecting an employer's argiunent that it neither promulgated its
dress bun in response to union activity nor enforced it in a dis-
criminatory manner because 'while the presence ofthesc circum-
stances may constitute grounds for invalidating a dress ban, it
does not necessarily follow that the absence of these circum-
stances constitutes B ground for upholding a dress ban.'); See
also Tesla, Inc.. 371 NLRB at slip op. page 12 (That an em-
ploycr`s uniform policy or dress code effectively prohibits em-
ployees from wearing all clothing other than the clothing pre-
scribed by the employer [including, but not limited to, union
clothing] docs not make the employer's action lawful, any more
than an employer's no~solicitution rule is lawful because it bars
all solicitation [not just union solicitation] on nonworking time).
Having found that Respondent has failed to establish special cir-
cumstanccsjustifying its restriction on employees' Section 7 ac-
tivities. Respondent's directive to employees to remove their un-
ion T~shirts violates Section 8(a)(l )of the Act. See ld. (employer
violated the Act by telling production workers that their black
union shirts violated its team wear policy allowing only plain
black shirts). Northeast Industrial Service Co.. 320 NLRB 977,
978-979 and tit. l (l996) (employer violated the Act when it in-
formed crew members that they must remove union stickers from
their safety helmets), Domsqv Trading Corp., 310 NLRB 777.
806-807 ( I993) (supervisor unlawfully directed line worker to
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remove Union T-shins wom during their work shills.
4. All other allegations of the complaint are dismissed.

REMEDY

remove smock emblazoned with union name).

G. Respondent Violated Section 81://(I) oft/re Ad When Alex
Sylvan Informed Ashla Kido That She Would Ee Dixcipli/red

if SheRe/wed la Change Ou/ otHer Union T-shirt

Although in general, I found both Alex Sariyan and Ashley
Kido to be credible witnesses, I specifically credit Kidols testi-
mony over Sariyan's regarding the threat to write her up if she
failed to change out of the union T-shirt. In this regard Kido
testified on direct examination that in both conversations with
Sariyan on September 19. he threatened to issue her a written
waring if she refused to change out of her union T-shirt. Kido
testified calmly and confidently and was not spoon fed this an-
swer by counsel. And on cross-examination. Kido reiterated that
Sariynn threatened her with a written waring if she didn't take
off the union T-shirt. (Tr. I l9). Kido forthrightly answered Re-
spondent counsel's questions on cross by acknowledging that
she knew she was not in compliance with the dress code when
she wore the union T-shirt and admitting that Sariyan's waring
was not audible on the recordings. But the latter point is not
harmful to Kidols credibility because very little is audible on the
recordings.

Although Kido testified before Sariyan, Respondent counsel
did not specifically ask Sariyan on direct examination whether
he had told Kido she would be written up if she refused to change
out of the union T-shirt. (Tr. 158-162.) This omission seems
purposeful considering there was a specific complaint allegation
referencing this alleged unlawfiil act and Kido testified that Sari-
yan told her this on two separate occasions. When l asked Sari-
yan whether he discussed with Kido how she would be held ac-
countable for not being in dress code or whether there was a dis-
cussion with Kido as to any potential consequences for her ac-
tions, Sariyan answered that no such discussion took place. (Tr.
l7L) Thus, I am crediting Kido's direct, detailed testimony that
Sariyan twice threatened her with discipline over Sariyun's blan-
ket denial. Based on the above, l find that Sariyanls threats of
discipline on September l9th violate Section 8(a)( I ) of the Act.
See Northeast Industrial Services Co., 320 NLRB at 320 lit. I :
Ohio Masonic Home, 205 NLRB 357, 357 (1973). cnfd. men
sl l F.2d 527 (6th Cir. 1975).

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

I , The Respondent, Siren Retail Corp. d/bla Starbucks Re-
serve Ronstcry is an employer within the meaning of Section
2(2), (6), and (7) of the Act.

2. The Charging Party, Workers United. Affiliated with Ser-
vice Employees International Union, is a labor organization
within the meaning of Section 2(5) of the Act.

3. By engaging in the following acts and conduct. Respondent
has violated Section 8(a)(l) of the Act:

Having found that the Respondent has engaged in certain un-
fair labor practices. I find that it must be ordered to cease and
desist and to take certain affirmative action designed to eH`ectu-
ate the policies of the Act. Having found that Respondent has
unlawfully maintained dress code Mes in its NYC Ronstery
dress code regarding prohibiting employees from wearing shirts
or tops that have logos, writings, or designs. and prohibiting em-
ployees from wearing pins or buttons that advocate a political.
religious, or personal issue, I shall order that Respondent rescind
those rules only at its NYC Roastcry.

In its post-hearing brief Counsel for the General Counsel re-
news its request that this remedy be applied to all three Starbucks
Reserve Roastery stores in the United States as well as the three
Starbucks Reserve stores in the United Statcs. I decline to grant
this request. To this end. the pleadings in this case only specifi-
cally referred to the Starbucks Reserve Roastery store in New
York city and the parties' joint partial stipulation of facts spe-
cifically referred only to the New York City Roastery, See Joint
I, paragraphs 6 through 10, To the extent that the above-an-
nounccd unlawful dress code provisions also apply to the Chi-
cago and Seattle Roasteries, as well as the three Reserve stores,
there is insufficient evidence in this record to draw this conclu-
sion. In particular, the record evidence reflected that only the
NYC Roastery contained a summer dress code, and there were
certain variations in the dress code (e.g. cuffs. color palette).
Thus, extending the remedy announced in this decision to the
other live Roastery and Reserve stores in the United States
would not be appropriate.

Having also found that Respondent unlawfully told employes
that they must remove or change out of their union T-shirts, and
that Respondent threatened to discipline employees if they re-
fused to remove or change out of their union T-shirts, I shall or-
der Respondent to cease and desist from instructing employees
to remove their union T~shins, and from threatening to discipline
employees if they refuse to remove their union T-shirts during
their work shifts.

(a) Maintaining a dress code rule prohibiting employees firm
wearing shirts or tops that have logos, writings, or designs;
(b) Maintaining a dress code rule prohibiting employees firm
wearing pins or buttons that advocate a political, religious, or
personal issue,
(c) Informing employees that they must remove Union T-shirts
wom during their work shifts;
(d) Threatening employees with discipline if they refixse to

ORDER

Respondent, its olTicers, agents, successors. and assigns, shall
I. Cease and desist from
(a) Maintaining and enforcing an overly broad shirts and tops

dress code rule in its NYC Roastery that prohibits partners from
wearing union T-shirts.

(b) Maintaining an overly broad rule in its NYC Roastery
dress code that prohibits partners from wearing pins and buttons
that advocate a political. religious. or personal issue.

(c) Telling our employees to remove or change out of union
T'-shirts.

(d) 'Threatening to discipline employees tor wearing union T-
shirts during their work ships.

(e) in any like or related manner interfering with. restraining,
or coercing employees in the exercise of the rights guaranteed
them by Section 7 of the Act.

2. Take the following affirmative action necessary to
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Act together with other employees for your benefit and
protection

Choose not to engage in any of these protected activi-
ties.

WE wiLL NOT interfere with, restrain. or coerce you in the ex-
ercise of the above rights.

Wi; WILL NOT maintain overly broad shirts and tops dress code
rules that prohibit our New York City Roastery partners ii-om
wearing union T-shins.

WE wiLL NOT maintain overly broad dress code rules that pro-
hibit our New York City Roastery partners from wearing pins
and buttons that advocate for political. religious, or personal is-
sues.

WE wtu. NOT tell our New York City Roastery partners to re-
move or change out of union T-shirts.

WE wiLL NOT threaten employees with disciplinary action for
wearing union T-shirts during their work shifts.

WE WILL NOT in any like or related MKll\l1cf interfere with, re~
strain, or coerce you in the exercise of your rights guaranteed by
Section 7 of the Act.

WE WILL rescind our overly broad shirts and tops dress code
rules. or revise the dress code rules, to make clear that our dress
code does not prohibit our New York City Roastery partners
from wearing union T-shirts.

WE WILL rescind our overly broad pins and buttons mlc, or
revise the pins and buttons rule, to make clear that our dress code
docs not prohibit our New York City Roastery partners from
wearing pins and buttons that advocate for protected, concerted
activities relating to our partners' terms and conditions of em-
ployment,

WE WlLL notify you that our overly broad shirts and tops and
pins and buttons dress code rules have been rescinded, or ifdtey
have been revised, provide you with a copy of the revised shirts
and tops and pins and buttons dress code rules.

SIREN RErAiL cone. D/B/A STARBUCKS Rnsenvs
ROASTERY

effectuate the policies of the Act.
(a) Rescind the shirts and tops rule in its NYC Roastery dress

code or revise the NYC Roastery dress code to make clear that it
dues not prohibit partners from wearing union T-shirts.

(b) Rescind the rule prohibiting buttons or pins that advocate
B political, religious, or personal issue in its NYC Roastery dress
code or revise the NYC Roastery dress code to make clear that it
docs not prohibit partners from wearing pins and buttons that ad-
vocate for protected, concerted activities relevant to partners'
terms and conditions of employment.

(c) Notify all current employees of the NYC Roastery that the
shirts and tops dress code rule in the NYC Roastery dress code
has been rescinded. or if it has been revised. provide them with
a copy of the NYC Roastery dress code with the revised shirts
and tops rule.

(d) Notify all current employees of the NYC Roastery that the
rule prohibiting the wearing of buttons or pins that advocate a
political. religious, or personal issue has been rescinded, or if it
has been revised, provide them with a copy of the NYC Roastery
dress code with the revised pins and buttons rule.

(e) Post at its New York City Ronstery facility copies of tire
attached notice marked "Appendix." Copies of the notice, on
forms provided by the Regional Director for Region 2, after be-
ing signed by the Respondents authorized representative, shall
be posted by the Respondent and maintained for 60 consecutive
days in conspicuous places, including all places where notices to
employees are customarily posted. in addition to physical post-
ing of paper notices, notices shall be distributed elcctmnically,
such as by email and/or posting on Respondent's Partner Hub
intranet. in the same manner that the NYC Roastery dress code
is disseminated to partners at the NYC Roastery. The Respond-
ent shall take reasonable steps to ensure that the notices are not
altered. defaced. or covered by any other material. If the Re-
spondent has gone out of business or closed the facility involved
in these proceedings, the Respondent shall duplicate and mail, at
its own expense. a copy of the notice to all current employees
and former employees employed by the Respondent at any time
since September 19, 2022,

(f) Within 21 days after service by the Region, file with the
Regional Director for Region 2 a swam certification ofa tespon~
sibley official on a form provided by the Region attesting to the
steps that the Respondent has taken to comply.

Dated, Washington, D.C. December 6, 2023

APPENDIX

The Administrative Law Judge's decision can be found at
https://www.nlrb.gov/case/02-CA-305984 or by using the QR
code below. Alternatively, you can obtain a copy of the decision
from the Executive Secretary. National Labor Relations Board,
1015 Half Street. S.E., Washington, D.C. 20570, or by calling
(202)273-1940.

NGTICE To EMPUOYE8
POSTED BY ORDER OF THE

NA rlonAL LABQR REl.4TIONS BOARD
An Agency of the United States Government

El m
93

I . I
The National Labor Relations Board has found that we violated
Federal labor law and has ordered us to post and obey this notice.

FEDERAL LAW GIVES YOU THE RIGHT TO

Form, join, or assist a union
Choose representatives to bargain with us on your be-

half

"we
m
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